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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM
GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.
Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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DEFINITIONS
In this Composite Document, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the
context otherwise requires:
‘‘acting in concert’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Takeovers Code

‘‘associate’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
or the Listing Rules (as the case may be), unless otherwise
specified

‘‘Board’’

the board of Directors

‘‘Business Day’’

a day (excluding Saturday, Sunday and public holiday) on which
licensed banks in Hong Kong and the PRC are generally open for
business in Hong Kong and the PRC

‘‘BVI’’

the British Virgin Islands

‘‘CCASS’’

the Central Clearing and Settlement System established and
operated by HKSCC

‘‘Circular’’

the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2011 containing,
among other things, information about the Subscription
Agreement and other matters proposed at the SGM

‘‘Closing Date’’

7 July 2011, being the closing date of the Offers (or such other
date as revised or extended by the Offeror with the consent of the
Executive in accordance with the Takeovers Code)

‘‘CN Subscribers’’

the Subscribers which had agreed to subscribe for the Convertible
Notes in accordance with the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, i.e. all the Subscribers

‘‘CN Subscription’’

subscription of the Convertible Notes by the CN Subscribers in
accordance with the terms of the Subscription Agreement

‘‘Companies Ordinance’’

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

‘‘Company’’

Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability, the issued Shares of which are
listed and traded on the GEM (Stock Code: 8075)

‘‘Composite Document’’

this composite offer and response document jointly issued by and
on behalf of the Offeror, eSun and the Company to the
Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options in accordance
with the Takeovers Code containing, among other things, terms
and conditions of the Offers, the advice of Hercules Capital to the
Independent Board Committee, the Independent Shareholders and
the holders of the Share Options in relation to the Offers
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘connected person(s)’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
or the Listing Rules (as the case may be)

‘‘controlling shareholder’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
or the Listing Rules (as the case may be), unless otherwise
specified

‘‘Conversion Share(s)’’

any Share(s) to be issued by the Company upon the holder(s) of
the Convertible Notes exercising its/their conversion right(s)
under and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes

‘‘Convertible Notes’’

the First Completion Convertible
Completion Convertible Notes

‘‘Director(s)’’

the director(s) of the Company

‘‘eSun’’

eSun Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability, the issued shares of which are
listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 571)

‘‘Executive’’

the executive director of the Corporate Finance Division of the
SFC or any of his delegates

‘‘First Completion’’

completion of the subscription of the Subscription Shares and the
First Completion Convertible Notes which took place on 9 June
2011

‘‘First Completion Conditions’’

conditions precedent for the First Completion, as particularly
described in the section headed ‘‘Conditions precedent to the First
Completion’’ in the Circular

‘‘First Completion Convertible
Notes’’

3 years to maturity, zero coupon convertible notes with principal
amounts and initial conversion prices per Conversion Share
described in the section headed ‘‘Key terms relating to the
Convertible Notes’’ in the Circular issued by the Company on the
First Completion Date to the relevant CN Subscribers pursuant to
the terms and conditions as set out in the Subscription Agreement

‘‘First Completion Date’’

9 June 2011

‘‘Form(s) of Acceptance’’

the WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance or the YELLOW Form(s) of
Acceptance (as the case may be)
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘Fully Converted Convertible
Bond’’

the convertible bond issued pursuant to the subscription
agreement dated 30 September 2009 entered into between the
Company and Golden Coach Limited in respect of the
subscription of the convertible bond in the principal amount of
HK$25,000,000, which was fully converted into 500,000,000
Shares on 18 April 2011

‘‘GEM’’

The Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

‘‘GEM Listing Rules’’

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM

‘‘Grace Promise’’

Grace Promise Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability and a CN Subscriber

‘‘Group’’

the Company and its subsidiaries

‘‘Hercules Capital’’ or
‘‘Independent Financial Adviser’’

Hercules Capital Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO
registered to conduct Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity as defined under the SFO

‘‘HK$’’

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

‘‘HKSCC’’

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited

‘‘Hong Kong’’

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

‘‘HSBC’’

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, a
registered institution under the SFO registered to conduct Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type
4 (advising on securities), Type 5 (advising on futures contracts)
and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities as
defined under the SFO, and a licensed bank under the Banking
Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

‘‘Independent Board Committee’’

an independent board committee of the Board formed to make
recommendation to the Independent Shareholders and the holders
of the Share Options in respect of the Offers

‘‘Independent Shareholders’’

holders of the Offer Shares other than the Offeror and the parties
acting in concert with it

‘‘Joint Announcements’’

the announcements dated 31 March 2011, 11 April 2011 and
9 June 2011 jointly issued by the Offeror, eSun and the
Company, individually a ‘‘Joint Announcement’’
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘Lai Fung’’

Lai Fung Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability, the issued shares of which
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1125)

‘‘Last Trading Date’’

22 March 2011, being the last trading date of the Shares on the
GEM prior to the suspension of trading of the Shares pending the
release of the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011

‘‘Latest Practicable Date’’

13 June 2011, being the latest practicable date prior to the
despatch of this Composite Document for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained herein

‘‘Listing Rules’’

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

‘‘LSD’’

Lai Sun Development Company Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, the issued shares of which
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 488)

‘‘LSG’’

Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, the issued shares of which
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 191)

‘‘Macau’’

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

‘‘Madam U’’

Madam U Po Chu, the mother of Mr. Lam, an executive director
of Lai Fung and a non-executive director of each of LSG, LSD
and eSun

‘‘Memestar’’

Memestar Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability, a CN Subscriber and a Share Subscriber

‘‘Mr. Lam’’

Mr. Lam Kin Ngok, Peter, an executive director of each of LSG,
LSD, Lai Fung and eSun

‘‘Next Gen’’

Next Gen Entertainment Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability, a Share Subscriber and a CN
Subscriber

‘‘Offers’’

the Share Offer and the Share Option Offer

‘‘Offer Period’’

the period of the Offers, i.e. from the date of the Joint
Announcement dated 31 March 2011 up to and including the
Closing Date
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘Offer Price’’

the cash amount of HK$0.02785 payable by the Offeror for each
Share accepted under the Share Offer and each underlying Share
exercisable under the Share Options

‘‘Offer Shares’’

the existing issued Shares (other than the Shares already owned
or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and the parties acting in
concert with it) while the Offers remain open for acceptance

‘‘Offeror’’ or ‘‘Perfect Sky’’

Perfect Sky Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
eSun, a Share Subscriber and a CN Subscriber

‘‘On Chance’’

On Chance Inc., a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability and a CN Subscriber

‘‘Optima’’

Optima Capital Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO
permitted to engage in Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities, and the financial adviser to the
Company

‘‘Option’’

the option issued by the Company to Golden Coach Limited on
30 April 2010 to subscribe for 250,000,000 Shares at the
exercise price of HK$0.05 per Share, which was exercised in
full on 5 May 2011

‘‘Overseas Independent
Shareholder’’

an Independent Shareholder who is not a resident in Hong Kong
or who has a registered address in jurisdictions outside Hong
Kong

‘‘Overseas Share Option Holder’’

a holder of the Share Option who is not a resident in Hong Kong
or who has a registered address in jurisdictions outside Hong
Kong

‘‘PRC’’

the People’s Republic of China but excluding, for the purposes of
the Subscription Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement and
this Composite Document, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

‘‘Registrar’’

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong

‘‘Relevant Period’’

the period commencing six months preceding the date of the Joint
Announcement dated 31 March 2011 up to and including the
Latest Practicable Date

‘‘Second Completion’’

completion of the subscription of the Second Completion
Convertible Notes
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘Second Completion Convertible
Notes’’

3 years to maturity, zero coupon convertible notes with a
principal amount and an initial conversion price per Conversion
Share described in the section headed ‘‘Key terms relating to the
Convertible Notes’’ in the Circular to be issued by the Company
on the Second Completion Date to the relevant CN Subscribers
pursuant to the terms and conditions as set out in the Subscription
Agreement

‘‘Second Completion Date’’

the first anniversary of the First Completion Date

‘‘SFC’’

Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

‘‘SFO’’

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

‘‘SGM’’

the special general meeting of the Company convened and held
on 12 May 2011 for the purpose of considering, and if thought
fit, approving, among other things, (i) the Subscription
Agreement; (ii) the allotment and issue of the Subscription
Shares to the Share Subscribers; (iii) the issue of the Convertible
Notes to the CN Subscribers; and (iv) the allotment and issue of
the Conversion Shares upon the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the Convertible Notes

‘‘Share(s)’’

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company

‘‘Shareholder(s)’’

holder(s) of the Share(s)

‘‘Share Offer’’

the unconditional mandatory cash offer by HSBC on behalf of the
Offeror to acquire all classes of issued share capital of the
Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it (which, as at the
date of this Composite Document, are the 3,119,914,403 Offer
Shares) in accordance with the Takeovers Code

‘‘Share Option(s)’’

the outstanding options granted by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for an aggregate of 166,800,000
Shares at an initial price of HK$0.198 per Share (subject to
adjustment) as at the Latest Practicable Date

‘‘Share Option Offer’’

the unconditional mandatory cash offer by HSBC on behalf of the
Offeror to cancel the outstanding Share Options, not already
owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and the parties
acting in concert with it in accordance with the Takeovers Code

‘‘Share Option Scheme’’

the share option scheme of the Company approved by the
Shareholders on 19 November 2009
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘Share Subscribers’’

the Subscribers (other than On Chance and Grace Promise) which
had agreed to subscribe for the Subscription Shares in accordance
with the Subscription Agreement

‘‘Share Subscription’’

subscription of Shares by the Share Subscribers in accordance
with the terms under the Subscription Agreement

‘‘Stock Exchange’’

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

‘‘Subscribers’’

all the Subscribers to the Subscription Agreement, including the
Share Subscribers and the CN Subscribers

‘‘Subscription Agreement’’

the subscription agreement dated 23 March 2011 entered into
among the Company and the Subscribers in relation to, among
other things, (i) the Share Subscription; and (ii) the CN
Subscription, as amended by the Supplemental Agreement

‘‘Subscription Price’’

the aggregate consideration payable by the Share Subscribers to
the Company for the Subscription Shares

‘‘Subscription Share(s)’’

new Share(s) subscribed by each of the Share Subscribers in
accordance with the terms of the Subscription Agreement, the
total of which amounts to 6,918,343,209 Shares, which represents
approximately 68.9% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

‘‘subsidiary’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it in section 2(4) of the
Companies Ordinance and/or section 86 of the Companies Act of
1981 of Bermuda as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

‘‘substantial shareholder’’

has the same meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
or the Listing Rules (as the case may be), unless otherwise
specified

‘‘Sun Great’’

Sun Great Investments Limited, a company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability, a Share Subscriber and a CN
Subscriber

‘‘Supplemental Agreement’’

the supplemental agreement dated 9 June 2011 entered into
among the Company and the Subscribers for the purpose of
amending certain terms and conditions of the Subscription
Agreement

‘‘Takeovers Code’’

the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers

‘‘US$’’

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of
America
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DEFINITIONS

‘‘WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance’’

the accompanying white form(s) of acceptance in respect of the
Share Offer

‘‘YELLOW Form(s) of
Acceptance’’

the accompanying yellow form(s) of acceptance in respect of the
Share Option Offer

‘‘%’’

per cent.
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Despatch date of this Composite Document and the Form(s) of
Acceptance and commencement of the Offers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Thursday, 16 June 2011
Latest time and date for acceptance of the Offers . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 7 July 2011
Closing Date (Notes 2 and 3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Thursday, 7 July 2011
Announcement of the results of the Offers
to be posted on the website of GEM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . At or no later than 7:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 7 July 2011
Latest date for posting of remittances for the amounts due in
respect of valid acceptances received under the Offers (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . Friday, 15 July 2011
Notes:
1.

All times and dates refer to Hong Kong local times and dates.

2.

The Offers, which are unconditional, will be closed on 7 July 2011 unless the Offeror revises or extends the Offers in
accordance with the Takeovers Code. An announcement will be issued through the Stock Exchange’s website by 7:00 p.m.
on 7 July 2011 stating whether the Offers have been revised or extended or have expired. In the event that the Offeror
decides that the Offers will remain open until further notice, at least 14 calendar days’ notice in writing will be given to
those Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options who have not accepted the Offers before the Offers
are closed and an announcement in this regard will be published. Acceptance of the Offers will be irrevocable and will not
be capable of being withdrawn except as permitted under the Takeovers Code.

3.

If there is (i) a tropical cyclone warning signal number 8 or above, or (ii) a ‘‘black’’ rainstorm warning signal in force
between 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date, the time and date of the close of the Offers will be adjourned to
4:00 p.m. on the next Business Day which does not have either of those warnings in force in Hong Kong or such other day
as the Executive may approve.

4.

Remittances in respect of the cash consideration (after deducting the seller’s ad valorem and other stamp duties, where
applicable) payable for the Shares and the Share Options under the Offers will be posted to the accepting Independent
Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options by ordinary post at their own risk as soon as possible but in any event
within 10 days of the date of receipt by the Registrar or the company secretary of the Company (as the case may be) of the
duly completed Form(s) of Acceptance from the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options accepting
the Offers.

5.

If, at the close of the Offers, less than the minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the
issued Shares, is held by the public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may exist in the
trading of the Shares; or (ii) there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain an orderly market, the Stock
Exchange will consider exercising its discretion to suspend trading in the Shares.
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LETTER FROM HSBC

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
16 June 2011
To the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options
Dear Sir or Madam,
UNCONDITIONAL MANDATORY CASH OFFER BY HSBC
ON BEHALF OF
PERFECT SKY TO (A) ACQUIRE ALL THE SHARES IN THE COMPANY (OTHER THAN
THOSE ALREADY OWNED OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY PERFECT SKY AND THE
PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT); AND (B) CANCEL THE SHARE OPTIONS
INTRODUCTION
Reference is made to the Joint Announcements and the Circular.
On 23 March 2011, the Company and the Subscribers entered into the Subscription Agreement
pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each Share Subscriber, and each
Share Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription Shares; and (ii) the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each CN Subscriber, and each CN Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes. The total Subscription Shares to be
subscribed by the Share Subscribers comprised 6,918,343,209 Shares, representing approximately 68.9%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date. The aggregate
principal amount of the Convertible Notes is HK$596,260,579.
The Subscription Agreement was approved by the Shareholders at the SGM.
As disclosed in the Joint Announcement dated 9 June 2011, on 27 May 2011, the Stock Exchange
granted its listing approval for the Subscription Shares and any Conversion Shares which may be issued
on exercise of the conversion rights attached to the First Completion Convertible Notes subject to the
fulfilment of all other conditions of the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription.
Since the listing approval for the Conversion Shares which may be issued on exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the Second Completion Convertible Notes (the ‘‘Second Completion
Conversion Shares Approval’’) had not been granted by the Stock Exchange on or before the First
Completion Date (as defined in the Joint Announcements), on 9 June 2011, the Company and the
Subscribers entered into the Supplemental Agreement to amend certain terms and conditions of the
Subscription Agreement.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company and the Subscribers agreed, among other
things, that the Second Completion Conversion Shares Approval shall be removed as a First Completion
Condition and be added as a Second Completion Condition.
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LETTER FROM HSBC
Upon signing of the Supplemental Agreement, all the First Completion Conditions have been
fulfilled. Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company and the Subscribers also agreed that
the First Completion shall take place on the date of the signing of the Supplemental Agreement.
Accordingly, the First Completion took place on 9 June 2011. The total Subscription Price paid for
the subscription of the Subscription Shares was HK$118,613,358 and the total principal amount paid for
the subscription of the First Completion Convertible Notes was HK$371,386,642.
Immediately before the First Completion, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it did
not own any Shares and other relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers
Code) issued by the Company. Following the First Completion, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the
Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it owned a total of 6,918,343,209 Subscription Shares
(representing approximately 68.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date) and an aggregate principal amount of HK$371,386,642 in respect of the First
Completion Convertible Notes which can be converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192 Conversion
Shares (representing approximately 177.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the
Latest Practicable Date).
The primary purpose of this Composite Document is to provide you with information relating to,
among other things, the details of the Offers, information on the Offeror and the intention of the Offeror
and eSun regarding the Group and to set out the reasons for the recommendations from the Independent
Board Committee and the Independent Financial Adviser, in each case in respect of the Offers.
The Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are strongly advised to
consider carefully the information contained in the ‘‘Letter from the Board’’, ‘‘Letter from the
Independent Board Committee’’ and ‘‘Letter from Hercules Capital’’ as set out in this Composite
Document.
THE FULLY CONVERTED CONVERTIBLE BOND
As stated in the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011, up to 500,000,000 Shares may be
allotted and issued under the Fully Converted Convertible Bond on or before 29 April 2013 at the
conversion price of HK$0.05 per Share (subject to adjustments). On 23 March 2011, the Company
obtained an undertaking from Golden Coach Limited that it would exercise the conversion right under
the Fully Converted Convertible Bond at the conversion price of HK$0.05 per Share without any
adjustment if it were to convert and waive the anti-dilution protection provisions under the Fully
Converted Convertible Bond as a result of the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement. On 18 April 2011, Golden Coach Limited fully converted the Fully Converted Convertible
Bond and therefore became interested in 500,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, there will not be a
comparable offer made in respect of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond.
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LETTER FROM HSBC
THE OPTION
As stated in the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011, on 30 September 2009, a subscription
agreement was entered into between the Company and Golden Coach Limited pursuant to which the
Company granted the Option in favour of Golden Coach Limited to subscribe for 250,000,000 Shares at
the exercise price of HK$0.05 per Share (subject to adjustments). On 5 May 2011, Golden Coach
Limited fully exercised the Option and therefore became interested in an additional 250,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, there will not be a comparable offer made in respect of the Option.
THE OFFERS
Upon the First Completion, the Company issued the Subscription Shares (i.e. 6,918,343,209
Shares) to the Share Subscribers and issued the First Completion Convertible Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$371,386,642 (which can be converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192
Conversion Shares) to the CN Subscribers.
Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, immediately following the First Completion, the
Offeror is required to make an unconditional mandatory cash offer for all the issued Shares and other
securities issued by the Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and the
parties acting in concert with it in accordance with the Takeovers Code. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Offers will not be extended to the parties acting in concert with the Offeror, including the Subscribers.
In any event, each of the Subscribers (including the Share Subscribers and the CN Subscribers other
than the Offeror) had undertaken, among other things, not to accept the Share Offer and not to dispose
of any of its Subscription Shares and First Completion Convertible Notes and any Shares issuable upon
conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes (as the case may be) during the Offer Period.
Accordingly, there will not be a comparable offer made in respect of the First Completion Notes.
The Share Offer
HSBC will make the Share Offer on behalf of the Offeror for all the issued Shares not already
owned or agreed to be acquired by it and the parties acting in concert with it in compliance with the
Takeovers Code on the following basis subject to the terms, conditions and procedures set out further in
Appendix I to this Composite Document and the accompanying WHITE Form of Acceptance:
For each Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.02785 in cash
The Offer Price of HK$0.02785 per Share represents:
(a)

a discount of approximately 92.8% to the closing price of HK$0.385 per Share as quoted on
the GEM on the Last Trading Date;

(b)

a discount of approximately 92.5% to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.372
per Share for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior to and including the Last
Trading Date;

(c)

a discount of approximately 92.1% to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.3545
per Share for the ten consecutive trading days immediately prior to and including the Last
Trading Date;
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(d)

a discount of approximately 89.3% to the closing price of HK$0.260 per Share as quoted on
the GEM on the Latest Practicable Date; and

(e)

a premium of approximately 160.3% over the Group’s audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to owners of the Company as at 31 March 2011 of approximately HK$0.0107 per
Share.

The Share Offer is unconditional and, therefore, is not conditional upon any minimum level of
acceptances being received nor subject to any other conditions.
The Share Option Offer
Pursuant to Rule 13 of the Takeovers Code, a comparable offer will also be made and extended to
the holders of the Share Options.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Share Options to subscribe for 166,800,000 Shares at the
exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share (subject to adjustments) remained outstanding. No adjustment to
the exercise price of the Share Options will be made as a result of the transactions contemplated under
the Subscription Agreement. As the exercise price for the underlying Shares exercisable under the Share
Options is above the Offer Price, HSBC, on behalf of the Offeror, will make a comparable cash offer to
cancel the Share Options on the following terms:
For each underlying Share exercisable under the
Share Options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.00001 in cash
Value of the Offers
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had (i) 10,038,257,612 Shares (including the
6,918,343,209 Subscription Shares) in issue; (ii) the First Completion Convertible Notes with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$371,386,642 outstanding; and (iii) 166,800,000 Share Options
outstanding, entitling the holders thereof to subscribe for up to an aggregate of 166,800,000 Shares at
the exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share.
Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any other relevant securities (as defined in
Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.
Assuming (i) all holders of the Offer Shares accept the Share Offer; and (ii) all holders of the
Share Options accept the Share Option Offer, in each case in full acceptance, the amount of cash
required for the Offers will be approximately HK$91,534,996.
Highest and lowest prices
The highest and lowest closing prices of the Shares as quoted on the GEM during the Relevant
Period were HK$0.395 per Share (on 1 April 2011) and HK$0.150 per Share (on 5 November and 8
November 2010) respectively.
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Financial resources
The Offeror will finance the Offers by internal resources. HSBC is satisfied that, as at the Latest
Practicable Date, sufficient financial resources were available to the Offeror to satisfy the full
acceptances of the Offers.
Effects of accepting the Offers
Acceptance of the Share Offer by any person or persons will be deemed to constitute a warranty by
such person or persons to the Offeror that the Share(s) acquired under the Share Offer is/are sold by any
such person or persons free from all third party rights, liens, claims, charges, equities and encumbrances
whatsoever and renounced together with all rights accruing or attaching thereto including the right to
receive all future dividends or other distributions, if any, declared, paid or made on the Share(s) on or
after the date on which completion of such share transfer takes place.
Acceptance of the Share Option Offer by the holder(s) of the Share Options will be deemed to
constitute a warranty by the holder(s) of the Share Option Offer to the Offeror that the Share Option(s)
tendered for acceptance under the Share Option Offer is/are surrendered for cancellation by such
holder(s) free from all third party rights, liens, claims, charges, equities and encumbrances whatsoever
and renounced together with all rights accruing or attaching thereto on or after the date of acceptance.
Acceptance of the Offers shall be unconditional and irrevocable and shall not be capable of being
withdrawn. The procedures for acceptance and further terms of the Offers are set out in Appendix I to
this Composite Document.
Payment/Settlement
Payment in cash in respect of acceptances of the Offers will be made as soon as possible but in
any event within 10 days of the date on which the relevant documents of title and duly completed
acceptance(s) are received by the Offeror to render each such acceptance complete and valid pursuant to
Note 1 to Rule 30.2 of the Takeovers Code.
Overseas Independent Shareholders and Overseas Share Option Holders
As the Offers made to persons not resident in Hong Kong may be affected by the laws of the
relevant jurisdiction in which they are resident, the Overseas Independent Shareholders and the Overseas
Share Option Holders who are citizens, residents or nationals of a jurisdiction outside Hong Kong
should acquaint themselves with and observe any applicable legal or regulatory requirements and where
necessary seek legal advice. It is the responsibility of the Overseas Independent Shareholders and the
Overseas Share Option Holders who wish to accept the Offers to satisfy themselves as to the full
observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in connection therewith (including the obtaining of
any governmental or other consent which may be required or the compliance with other necessary
formalities and the payment of any transfer or other taxes due by such accepting Overseas Independent
Shareholders and Overseas Share Option Holders, in respect of such jurisdiction).
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Acceptances of the Offers by any such person will be deemed to constitute a warranty by such
person that such person is permitted under all applicable laws and regulations to receive and accept the
relevant Offer, and any revision thereof, and such acceptance shall be valid and binding in accordance
with all applicable laws and regulations. The Overseas Independent Shareholders and the Overseas Share
Option Holders are recommended to seek professional advice on whether or not to accept the Offers.
Stamp duty
Assuming that the Share Offer is made upon the Share Transfer Completion Date, (i) the seller’s ad
valorem stamp duty arising in connection with the acceptance of the Share Offer will amount to 0.1% of
the amount payable or the then aggregate market price of each Offer Share in respect of the relevant
acceptance, whichever is higher and such stamp duty payable will be deducted from the amount payable
to the Shareholders who accept the Share Offer; and (ii) the Offeror will bear its own portion of the
buyer’s ad valorem stamp duty amounting to 0.1% of the amount payable or the then aggregate market
price of each Offer Share in respect of relevant acceptances, whichever is higher and will be responsible
to account to the Stamp Office of Hong Kong for all the stamp duty payable for the sale and purchase of
the Shares which are validly tendered for acceptance under the Share Offer (including the fixed stamp
duty of HK$5.00 payable on each instrument of transfer payable by the relevant seller and the Offeror).
Dealings and interests in the Company’s securities
Save for the subscription of the Subscription Shares and the Convertible Notes under the
Subscription Agreement, no member of the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it has dealt in
any Shares or outstanding options, derivatives, warrants or other securities convertible into Shares
during the Relevant Period. As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Subscription Shares and the
Convertible Notes, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it did not hold, own or control any
Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives of the Company and have not entered into
any arrangements or contracts in relation to the outstanding derivatives in respect of securities in the
Company nor have any of them borrowed or lent any relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22
of the Takeovers Code) in the Company. As at the Latest Practicable Date, no persons had irrevocably
committed to accept or reject the Offers save for the Subscribers (other than the Offeror) which had
undertaken not to accept the Share Offer in any event. Please refer to the section headed ‘‘Shareholding
Structure of the Company’’ in the Letter from the Board for the shareholding of the Subscribers (as the
case may be) in the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
INFORMATION ABOUT THE PARTIES
The Company
The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in the
development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the provision of valueadded telecommunication services in respect of digital distribution of ringtones, games and media
content to mobile phone users in the PRC; the sale of music recorded in digital format; and the
entertainment business.
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The Offeror
The Offeror is a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on 9 March 2011 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of eSun. Its principal activity is investment holding. The Offeror and its
ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent from the Company and are independent of and
not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief
executives and substantial shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise are not connected
persons of the Company. For details of the ultimate beneficial owners of the Offeror, please refer to the
information set out below on eSun. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the directors of the Offeror were
Messrs. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard and Cheung Sum, Sam.
eSun
eSun is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued shares of
which are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 571). LSD through
one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries is the controlling shareholder of eSun and holds 447,604,186
issued shares in eSun, representing approximately 36.00% of the entire issued share capital of eSun as at
the Latest Practicable Date. As at the Latest Practicable Date, LSD was held as to approximately 47.97%
by LSG and two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and LSG in turn was held as to approximately
29.99% by a company equally owned by Mr. Lam and Madam U and as to approximately 8.07% by Mr.
Lam. eSun acts as an investment holding company and the principal business activities of its
subsidiaries include the development and operation of and investment in media, entertainment, music
production and distribution, the investment in and production and distribution of film and video format
products, the provision of advertising agency services and the sale of cosmetic products. eSun also owns
an approximately 40.58% shareholding interest in Lai Fung which is an investment holding company
and the principal business activities of the subsidiaries of Lai Fung are property investment and
development in the PRC. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the executive directors of eSun were Messrs.
Lam Kin Ngok, Peter, Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, Cheung Wing Sum, Ambrose and Cheung Sum, Sam; the
non-executive directors of eSun were Mr. Low Chee Keong, Madam U Po Chu, Mr. Lo Kwok Kwei,
David, Mr. Albert Thomas da Rosa, Junior and Miss Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny; and the independent
non-executive directors of eSun were Mr. Tong Ka Wing, Carl, Mr. Alfred Donald Yap and Dr. Ng Lai
Man, Carmen.
INTENTION OF THE OFFEROR AND eSUN IN RESPECT OF THE GROUP
The Offeror and eSun intend to continue the principal businesses of the Group and leverage on the
Group’s established networks and core strength in media, entertainment and events management to
gradually diversify the Group’s media and entertainment businesses into other sectors including film
production, television drama production and distribution in the PRC, investment in movie cinemas in the
PRC and artiste management. eSun and the Group intend to carry out different segments of media and
entertainment businesses in different geographical areas with a view to fully utilising their respective
business platforms. More specifically, eSun will primarily focus on the Hong Kong and international
markets while the Group will primarily focus on the PRC and Macau markets.
The Offeror and eSun consider that the acquisition of a controlling interest in the Company
together with the Offers represent a good opportunity for the Offeror and eSun to leverage on the
enlarged Group’s established networks in the media and entertainment sectors with a long-term view to
carrying out business lines with a different commercial and geographic focus as mentioned above.
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The Offeror and eSun also wish to refer to the section headed ‘‘LATEST BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENTS OF THE GROUP’’ in the Letter from the Board of this Composite Document and
agree with the immediate and future plans of the Group.
Appointment of new Directors to the Board
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent non-executive
Directors. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Offeror nominated Mr. Lam Kin Ngok, Peter
(‘‘Mr. Lam’’), Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard (‘‘Mr. Lui’’) and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong (‘‘Mr. Chan’’) and
Next Gen nominated Mr. Yu Feng (‘‘Mr. Yu’’) to be appointed as executive Directors. The Board
approved such appointments and the appointment of Mr. Lam as the chairman of the Board with effect
from 16 June 2011.
The brief biographies of the new Directors are set out below:
Mr. Lam, aged 53, has been an executive director of eSun since 1996. He is also the deputy
chairman of LSG, the chairman of LSD, Lai Fung and Media Asia Entertainment Group Limited
and an executive director of Crocodile Garments Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in the property development and
investment, hospitality and media and entertainment businesses.
Mr. Lam is currently a director of the Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong. He
is also Chairman of Hong Kong Chamber of Films Limited and the Entertainment Industry
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, Honorary Chairman of Hong
Kong, Kowloon & New Territories Motion Picture Industry Association Limited, Vice Chairman of
the Hong Kong Film Development Council and a member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board. In
addition, Mr. Lam is a Trustee of the Better Hong Kong Foundation, a member of the 11th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a member of
Friends of Hong Kong Association Limited and a director of Hong Kong-Vietnam Chamber of
Commerce Limited.
Mr. Yu, aged 48, is the founder and chairman of Yunfeng Capital which was launched by
Mr. Yu together with other entrepreneurs in July 2010. He has over 10 years’ working experience
in the field of media and entertainment industry and has extensive knowledge and recognized
credential in the entertainment industry. Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor degree in Philosophy from Fudan
University, the PRC and a Master degree in Philosophy from the same university. He has also
obtained a Master degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from China Europe
International Business School. Mr. Yu is currently a director of each of Huayi Bros. Media Group,
a company whose securities are listed and traded on China Growth Enterprise Market (stock code:
300027.SZ) and Shanghai Guangdian Electric Group Co., Ltd, a company whose securities are
listed and traded on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601616).
Mr. Lui, aged 55, joined eSun in April 2010 as the chief operating officer of its Media and
Entertainment Division and became an executive director of eSun with effect from 1 July 2010. He
is currently the chief executive officer of eSun and also an executive director of LSG, LSD and Lai
Fung respectively.
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Mr. Lui is also an independent non-executive director of Prosperity Investment Holdings
Limited and 21 Holdings Limited. Prior to joining eSun, Mr. Lui was a director of Hanny Holdings
Limited and Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited (formerly known as ‘‘Wing On Travel (Holdings)
Limited’’). All the aforementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He was also a director of PSC Corporation Ltd., a company listed on Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited and a director of MRI Holdings Limited, a company previously listed
on the Australian Securities Exchange.
Mr. Lui has over 25 years of experience in property investment, corporate finance and media
and entertainment business. He is a fellow member of each of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, United Kingdom and
an associate of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from The University of Adelaide in Australia.
Mr. Chan, aged 51, was appointed a director of East Asia Entertainment Limited, a whollyowned subsidiary of eSun in October 2008 and a director of East Asia Music (Holdings) Limited,
another wholly-owned subsidiary of eSun in November 2010 and is in charge of the non-film
operations of the Media and Entertainment Division of eSun. In the last three years prior to the
date of this composite document, he has not held any directorship in any public companies, the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.
Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Warwick in England with a Bachelor of Science
degree in Management Sciences. He has over 20 years of experience in various media and
entertainment fields in the PRC and Hong Kong. Prior to joining the eSun group, he was the
managing director of Warner Music Hong Kong and had served as senior executives of companies
like EMI Hong Kong and SCMP.com.
The Company will enter into a service contract with each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr.
Chan with no fixed tenure, which is determinable by the Company or each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui
and Mr. Chan by giving the other party not less than 3 months’ notice or payment in lieu thereof.
The remuneration of each of the above directors to be appointed to the Board will be determined
by the Board with reference to the performance of the Company, their duties, responsibilities and time
devoted to the business of the Company, and prevailing market conditions.
Each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr. Chan is subject to retirement and re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and thereafter subject to the retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings of the Company at least once every three years in accordance with the Byelaws of the Company.
Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and
Mr. Chan (i) did not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, management
shareholders, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company; (ii) did not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO save as disclosed in the section headed
‘‘Substantial Shareholders’’ in Appendix III to this Composite Document; and (iii) did not hold other
positions with the Company and other members of the Group.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no other information relating
to each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr. Chan that is required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (h) to (v) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules nor were there any matters relating to
their appointment that needs to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
Save as disclosed in this section and the section headed ‘‘Intention of the Offeror and eSun in
respect of the Group’’, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror and eSun had no plans, if the Offers
are completed, to introduce any major changes to the business of the Group, including (i) redeployment
of the fixed assets of the Group; or (ii) discontinuing the employment of the employees of the Group,
other than in the ordinary course of business.
Maintaining the listing status of the Company after closing of the Offers
The Stock Exchange has indicated that if, at the close of the Offers, less than the minimum
prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued Shares, is held by the
public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may exist in the trading
of the Shares; or (ii) there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain an orderly market, it
will consider exercising its discretion to suspend trading in the Shares.
The Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it intend the Company to remain listed on the
GEM. The directors of the Offeror and the new directors to be appointed to the Board will jointly and
severally undertake to the Stock Exchange to take appropriate steps to ensure that sufficient public float
(currently being 25.0%) (the ‘‘Public Float’’) exists in the Shares.
The Offeror does not intend to exercise any right which may be available to it under the provisions
of the Companies Ordinance to compulsorily acquire any outstanding Offer Shares not acquired under
the Share Offer after the close of the Share Offer.
In order to ensure that immediately upon the close of the Offers, there will be sufficient Public
Float in the Shares, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it will consider options to restore
the Public Float, if necessary, including a placing of the Shares to other investors who are independent
and not connected persons of the Company as defined in the GEM Listing Rules.
As the Company and the Offeror are unable to ascertain at this stage the level of acceptance of the
Offers, the Company and the Offeror have not decided the exact actions that will be taken by them after
the close of the Offers to restore the Public Float of the Shares, if applicable. Separate announcements
will be made when necessary regarding the decision of any such placing, if the circumstances warrant.
So long as the Company remains a listed company on the GEM, the Stock Exchange will also
closely monitor all future acquisitions or disposals of assets of the Company. Any acquisitions or
disposals of assets by the Group will be subject to the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules.
Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange has the discretion to require the Offeror
to issue an announcement and a circular to the Shareholders irrespective of the size of any
proposed transactions, particularly when such proposed transactions represent a departure from
the principal activities of the Company.
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The Stock Exchange also has the power to aggregate a series of acquisitions or disposals of
the Group and any such transactions may result in the Company being treated as if it were a new
listing applicant and subject to the requirements for new listing applicants as set out in the GEM
Listing Rules.
TAX IMPLICATIONS
None of the Company, the Offeror, HSBC, Optima, Hercules Capital, the Registrar or any of their
respective directors or any other parties involved in the Offers is in a position to advise the Independent
Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options on their individual tax implications. The Independent
Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are recommended to consult their own professional
advisers as to the tax implications that may arise from accepting the Offers. None of the Company, the
Offeror, HSBC, Optima, Hercules Capital, the Registrar, the professional advisers to the Company and
the Offeror or any of their respective directors or any other parties involved in the Offers accepts any
responsibility for any tax effect on, or liabilities of, the Independent Shareholders or the holders of the
Share Options.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Your attention is drawn to the ‘‘Letter from the Independent Board Committee’’ as set out on page
34 and to Appendix I ‘‘Further Terms of the Offers’’ on pages 51 to 58 of this Composite Document
which contains details of the Offers.
You are recommended to read this Composite Document and the accompanying Form(s) of
Acceptance for details of the Offers.
Your attention is also drawn to the information set out in the appendices to this Composite
Document. In considering what action to take in connection with the Offers, you should consider your
own tax or financial position and if you are in any doubt, you should consult your professional advisers.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Che Ning Liu
Managing Director, Head of Global Banking
Hong Kong and Greater China
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Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8075)

Executive Directors:
Ms. Etsuko Hoshiyama
Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin
Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond

Registered office:
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Zhang Xi
Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter
Mr. Wong Kam Choi

Head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong:
23rd Floor
Sunshine Plaza
353 Lockhart Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong
16 June 2011

To the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options
Dear Sir or Madam,
UNCONDITIONAL MANDATORY CASH OFFER BY HSBC
ON BEHALF OF
PERFECT SKY TO (A) ACQUIRE ALL THE SHARES IN THE COMPANY (OTHER THAN
THOSE ALREADY OWNED OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY PERFECT SKY AND THE
PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT); AND (B) CANCEL THE SHARE OPTIONS
INTRODUCTION
Reference is made to the Joint Announcements and the Circular.
On 23 March 2011, the Company and the Subscribers entered into the Subscription Agreement
pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each Share Subscriber, and each
Share Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription Shares; and (ii) the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each CN Subscriber, and each CN Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes. The total Subscription Shares to be
subscribed by the Share Subscribers comprised 6,918,343,209 Shares, representing approximately 68.9%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date. The aggregate
principal amount of the Convertible Notes is HK$596,260,579.
The Subscription Agreement was approved by the Shareholders at the SGM.
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As disclosed in the Joint Announcement dated 9 June 2011, on 27 May 2011, the Stock Exchange
granted its listing approval for the Subscription Shares and any Conversion Shares which may be issued
on exercise of the conversion rights attached to the First Completion Convertible Notes subject to the
fulfilment of all other conditions of the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription.
Since the listing approval for the Conversion Shares which may be issued on exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the Second Completion Convertible Notes (the ‘‘Second Completion
Conversion Shares Approval’’) had not been granted by the Stock Exchange on or before the First
Completion Date (as defined in the Joint Announcements), on 9 June 2011, the Company and the
Subscribers entered into the Supplemental Agreement to amend certain terms and conditions of the
Subscription Agreement.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company and the Subscribers agreed, among other
things, that the Second Completion Conversion Shares Approval shall be removed as a First Completion
Condition and be added as a Second Completion Condition.
Upon signing of the Supplemental Agreement, all the First Completion Conditions have been
fulfilled. Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company and the Subscribers also agreed that
the First Completion shall take place on the date of the signing of the Supplemental Agreement.
Accordingly, the First Completion took place on 9 June 2011. The total Subscription Price paid for
the subscription of the Subscription Shares was HK$118,613,358 and the total principal amount paid for
the subscription of the First Completion Convertible Notes was HK$371,386,642.
Immediately before the First Completion, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it did
not own any Shares and other relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers
Code) issued by the Company. Following the First Completion, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the
Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it owned a total of 6,918,343,209 Subscription Shares
(representing approximately 68.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date) and the First Completion Convertible Notes in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$371,386,642 which can be converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192 Conversion Shares
(representing approximately 177.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date).
The primary purpose of this Composite Document is to provide you with information relating to,
among other things, the Offeror, eSun and the Group and to set out the reasons for the recommendations
from the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Financial Adviser, in each case in respect
of the Offers.
THE FULLY CONVERTED CONVERTIBLE BOND
As stated in the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011, up to 500,000,000 Shares may be
allotted and issued under the Fully Converted Convertible Bond on or before 29 April 2013 at the
conversion price of HK$0.05 per Share (subject to adjustments). On 23 March 2011, the Company
obtained an undertaking from Golden Coach Limited that it would exercise the conversion right under
the Fully Converted Convertible Bond at the conversion price of HK$0.05 per Share without any
adjustment if it were to convert and waive the anti-dilution protection provisions under the Fully
Converted Convertible Bond as a result of the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
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Agreement. On 18 April 2011, Golden Coach Limited fully converted the Fully Converted Convertible
Bond and therefore became interested in 500,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, there will not be a
comparable offer made in respect of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond.
THE OPTION
As stated in the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011, on 30 September 2009, a subscription
agreement was entered into between the Company and Golden Coach Limited pursuant to which the
Company granted the Option in favour of Golden Coach Limited to subscribe for 250,000,000 Shares at
the exercise price of HK$0.05 per Share (subject to adjustments). On 5 May 2011, Golden Coach
Limited fully exercised the Option and therefore became interested in an additional 250,000,000 Shares.
Accordingly, there will not be a comparable offer made in respect of the Option.
THE OFFERS
Upon the First Completion, the Company issued the Subscription Shares (i.e. 6,918,343,209
Shares) to the Share Subscribers and issued the First Completion Convertible Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$371,386,642 (which can be converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192
Conversion Shares) to the CN Subscribers.
Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, immediately following the First Completion, the
Offeror is required to make an unconditional mandatory cash offer for all the issued Shares and other
securities issued by the Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and the
parties acting in concert with it in accordance with the Takeovers Code. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Offers will not be extended to the parties acting in concert with the Offeror, including the Subscribers.
In any event, each of the Subscribers (including the Share Subscribers and the CN Subscribers other
than the Offeror) had undertaken, among other things, not to accept the Share Offer and not to dispose
of any of its Subscription Shares and First Completion Convertible Notes and any Shares issuable upon
conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes (as the case may be) during the Offer Period.
Accordingly, there will not be a comparable offer made in respect of the First Completion Convertible
Notes.
The Share Offer
HSBC will make the Share Offer on behalf of the Offeror for all the issued Shares and other
securities issued by the Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by it and the parties acting
in concert with it in compliance with the Takeovers Code on the following basis subject to the terms,
conditions and procedures set out further in Appendix I to this Composite Document and the
accompanying WHITE Form of Acceptance:
For each Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.02785 in cash
The Offer Price of HK$0.02785 per Share represents:
(a)

a discount of approximately 92.8% to the closing price of HK$0.385 per Share as quoted on
the GEM on the Last Trading Date;
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(b)

a discount of approximately 92.5% to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.372
per Share for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior to and including the Last
Trading Date;

(c)

a discount of approximately 92.1% to the average closing price of approximately HK$0.3545
per Share for the ten consecutive trading days immediately prior to and including the Last
Trading Date;

(d)

a discount of approximately 89.3% to the closing price of HK$0.260 per Share as quoted on
the GEM on the Latest Practicable Date; and

(e)

a premium of approximately 160.3% over the Group’s audited consolidated net asset value
attributable to owners of the Group as at 31 March 2011 of approximately HK$0.0107 per
Share.

The Share Offer is unconditional and, therefore, is not conditional upon any minimum level of
acceptances being received nor subject to any other conditions.
The Share Option Offer
Pursuant to Rule 13 of the Takeovers Code, a comparable offer will also be made and extended to
the holders of the Share Options.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Share Options to subscribe for 166,800,000 Shares at the
exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share (subject to adjustments) remained outstanding. No adjustment to
the exercise price of the Share Options will be made as a result of the transactions contemplated under
the Subscription Agreement. As the exercise price for the underlying Shares exercisable under the Share
Options is above the Offer Price, HSBC, on behalf of the Offeror, will make a comparable cash offer to
cancel the Share Options on the following terms:
For each underlying Share exercisable under the
Share Options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.00001 in cash
Save for the information disclosed under the section headed ‘‘Shareholding Structure of the
Company’’ below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had no outstanding securities, options,
derivatives or warrants which are convertible or exchangeable into Shares and save for the Subscription
Agreement, and the Company had not entered into any agreement for the issue of such securities,
options, derivatives or warrants of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY
Set out below is a table showing the shareholding structure of the Company (i) as at the Latest
Practicable Date assuming (a) no conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes and no exercise
of the Share Options; (b) no conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes and full exercise of
the outstanding Share Options; (c) full conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes and full
exercise of the outstanding Share Options; and (ii) upon the Second Completion assuming full
conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes and the Second Completion Convertible Notes;
full exercise of the outstanding Share Options; and no issue of new Shares and Share Options between
the First Completion and the Second Completion:

As at the
Latest Practicable Date

(a) assuming no conversion of the (b) assuming no conversion of the (c) assuming full conversion of
First Completion Convertible
First Completion Convertible
the First Completion Convertible
Note and no exercise of the
Note and full exercise of the
Note and full exercise of the
outstanding Share Options
outstanding Share Options
outstanding Share Options
Approximate
Approximate
Approximate
% of total
% of total
% of total
No. of Shares issued Shares
No. of Shares issued Shares
No. of Shares issued Shares

Upon the Second Completion
(assuming full conversion of the
First Completion Convertible
Notes and the Second Completion
Convertible Notes; full exercise of
the outstanding Share Options;
and no issue of new Shares and
Share Options between the First
Completion and the Second
Completion)
(Note 4)
Approximate
% of total
No. of Shares issued Shares

The Offeror
Sun Great
Next Gen
Memestar
On Chance
Grace Promise

5,150,000,000
1,100,000,000
576,098,633
92,244,576
—
—

51.30%
10.96%
5.74%
0.92%
—
—

5,150,000,000
1,100,000,000
576,098,633
92,244,576
—
—

50.47%
10.78%
5.64%
0.90%
—
—

15,345,000,000
1,530,000,000
5,127,769,033
912,419,354
782,073,732
1,077,199,282

54.68%
5.45%
18.28%
3.25%
2.79%
3.84%

20,845,000,000
1,530,000,000
7,062,798,426
1,256,732,496
1,077,199,282
1,077,199,282

57.69%
4.23%
19.54%
3.48%
2.98%
2.98%

The Offeror and the parties
acting in concert with it

6,918,343,209

68.92%

6,918,343,209

67.79%

24,774,461,401

88.29%

32,848,929,486

90.90%

6,900,000

0.07%

58,700,000

0.58%

58,700,000

0.21%

58,700,000

0.16%

—

—

115,000,000

1.13%

115,000,000

0.41%

115,000,000

0.32%

562,490,000

5.60%

562,490,000

5.51%

562,490,000

2.01%

562,490,000

1.56%

759,000,000
1,791,524,403

7.56%
17.85%

759,000,000
1,791,524,403

7.44%
17.55%

759,000,000
1,791,524,403

2.70%
6.38%

759,000,000
1,791,524,403

2.10%
4.96%

10,038,257,612

100.00%

10,205,057,612

100.00%

28,061,175,804

100.00%

36,135,643,889

100.00%

3,781,357,612

37.67%

3,896,357,612

38.17%

7,529,706,771

26.83%

8,169,145,463

22.61%
(Note 5)

The Directors
Holders of the Share Options
(other than the Directors)
Marvel Bonus Holdings
Limited (Note 1)
Mr. Chan Chun Kuen
(Note 2)
Other public Shareholders
Total

Total public Shareholders
(Note 3)
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Notes:
1.

Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited (‘‘Marvel Bonus’’) is owned as to 50% each by Integrated Asset Management
(Asia) Limited (‘‘Integrated Asset’’) and Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited (‘‘Shanghai Assets’’). Integrated Asset is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Yam Tak Cheung and Shanghai Assets is wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Ting Pang Wan, Raymond.

2.

750,000,000 Shares are held by Golden Coach Limited which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Chun
Kuen. In addition, Mr. Chan Chun Kuen is personally interested in 9,000,000 Shares. To the best knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors having made all reasonable enquiries, Golden Coach Limited and its
beneficial owner, Mr. Chan Chun Kuen are third parties independent from the Company and are independent of and
not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief executives and
substantial shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise are not connected persons of the Company.

3.

Shareholders not being a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director within the
preceding 12 months or an associate of a person referred to above are regarded as public Shareholders.

4.

The results of the Offers have not been taken into account. Upon the Second Completion, the Offeror and the parties
acting in concert with it will comply with the applicable requirements under the Takeovers Codes if required.

5.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes, the Company shall not be obliged to issue any
Conversion Shares if it comes to the notice of the Company that immediately following such conversion, the
Company will be unable to meet the applicable public float requirement under the GEM Listing Rules.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE PARTIES
The Company
The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in the
development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the provision of valueadded telecommunication services in respect of digital distribution of ringtones, games and media
content to mobile phone users in the PRC; the sale of music recorded in digital format; and the
entertainment business.
eSun
eSun is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued shares of
which are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 571). LSD through
one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries is the controlling shareholder of eSun and holds 447,604,186
issued shares in eSun, representing approximately 36.00% of the entire issued share capital of eSun as at
the Latest Practicable Date. As at the Latest Practicable Date, LSD was held as to approximately 47.97%
by LSG and two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and LSG in turn was held as to approximately
29.99% by a company equally owned by Mr. Lam and Madam U and as to approximately 8.07% by Mr.
Lam. eSun acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of its subsidiaries include
the development and operation of and investment in media, entertainment, music production and
distribution, investment in and production and distribution of film and video format products, the
provision of advertising agency services and the sale of cosmetic products. eSun also owns a 40.58%
shareholding interest in Lai Fung which is an investment holding company and the principal business
activities of the subsidiaries of Lai Fung are property investment and development in the PRC.
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The Offeror
The Offeror is a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on 9 March 2011 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of eSun. Its principal activity is investment holding. The Offeror and its
ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent from the Company and are independent of and
not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief
executives and substantial shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise are not connected
persons of the Company.
Sun Great
Sun Great is incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and is an investment holding company
wholly owned by Mr. Tse On Kin (‘‘Mr. Tse’’). One of his wholly-owned companies, CJ Capital
Investments Limited, is engaged as a business consultant of eSun. Mr. Tse was a director of TCL
Corporation (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: SZ.000100)) and he was
assigned to set up TCL Communication Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2618)). He has been a director and vice president of A’ Hong Communication &
Digital Information Co. Limited since he joined with certain partners to establish it in 2005. This
company is one of the leading PRC mobile phone manufacturers and a subsidiary of Sichuan Changhong
Electric Co. Limited (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: SH.600839)),
which is one of the leading consumer electronic groups in the PRC. Mr. Tse is currently the chairman
and executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 295) and Climax International
Company Limited (Stock Code: 439), a non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited
(Stock Code: 351) and an independent non-executive director of Value Convergence Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 821) respectively. Mr. Tse was also the former chairman and executive director of China
Grand Forestry Green Resources Group Limited (Stock Code: 910) from September 2009 to December
2010, Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (Stock Code: 351) from March 2006 to March 2007 and
New Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 166) from May 2007 to April 2009. Sun Great
and its ultimate beneficial owner (Mr. Tse) are third parties independent from the Company and are
independent of and not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective
directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise
are not connected persons of the Company. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Tse was the sole
director of Sun Great.
Next Gen
Next Gen is incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and is an investment holding company.
It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yunfeng Fund, L.P. (the ‘‘Fund’’), a Cayman Islands exempted
limited partnership. The Fund is a closed-end fund focusing on making investments in the consumer
industry, clean energy, technology, media and telecommunications industry, consumer products and new
energy industry sectors in the PRC. Yunfeng Capital Limited is the investment manager of the Fund,
and the general partner of the Fund is Yunfeng Investment, L.P. (the ‘‘General Partner’’), a Cayman
Islands exempted limited partnership, which is in turn wholly owned by Yunfeng Investment GP, Ltd.
Its investor base includes institutional investors, privately owned enterprises and high-net-worth
individuals. Next Gen, the Fund, the General Partner and Yunfeng Investment GP, Ltd. are third parties
independent from the Company and are independent of and not connected with any of the Company and
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its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders, and their
respective associates, and otherwise are not connected persons of the Company. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, Mr. Huang Xin was the sole director of Next Gen.
Memestar
Memestar is incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and is an investment holding company.
Memestar is wholly owned by Sina Corporation whose issued securities are listed on the NASDAQ
exchange (Nasdaq GS: SINA). Memestar and its ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent
from the Company and are independent of and not connected with any of the Company and its
subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders, and their
respective associates, and otherwise are not connected persons of the Company. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, Mr. Herman Yu and Mr. Charles Chao were the directors of Memestar and Mr. Charles
Chao, Mr. Yan Wang, Mr. Pehong Chen, Mr. Lip-Bu Tan, Mr. Ter Fung Tsao, Mr. Yichen Zhang and
Mr. Song Yi Zhang were directors of Sina Corporation.
On Chance
On Chance is incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and is an investment holding company.
On Chance is owned as to 95% and 5% respectively by Mr. Zhou Xin and Prowise Global Investment
Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Mrs. Hawken Xiu Li. On Chance and its ultimate beneficial
owners are third parties independent from the Company and are independent of and not connected with
any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief executives and substantial
shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise are not connected persons of the Company.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Zhou Xin was the sole director of On Chance.
Grace Promise
Grace Promise is incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and is an investment holding
company. Grace Promise is wholly owned by Mr. Choi Chiu Fai, Stanley. Grace Promise and its
ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent from the Company and are independent of and
not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and their respective directors, chief
executives and substantial shareholders, and their respective associates, and otherwise are not connected
persons of the Company. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Choi Chiu Fai, Stanley was the sole
director of Grace Promise.
Maintaining the listing status of the Company after closing of the Offers
The Stock Exchange has indicated that if, at the close of the Offers, less than the minimum
prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued Shares, is held by the
public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that (i) a false market exists or may exist in the trading
of the Shares; or (ii) there are insufficient Shares in public hands to maintain an orderly market;
it will consider exercising its discretion to suspend dealings in the Shares.
The Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it intend the Company to remain listed on the
GEM. The directors of the Offeror and the new directors to be appointed to the Board will undertake to
the Stock Exchange to take appropriate steps to ensure that sufficient Public Float exists in the Shares.
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The Offeror does not intend to exercise any right which may be available to it under the provisions
of the Companies Ordinance to compulsorily acquire any outstanding Offer Shares not acquired under
the Share Offer after the close of the Share Offer.
In order to ensure that immediately upon the close of the Offers, there will be sufficient Public
Float in the Shares, the Offeror and the parties acting in concert with it will consider options to restore
the Public Float, if necessary, including a placing of the Shares to other investors who are independent
and not connected persons of the Company as defined in the GEM Listing Rules.
As the Company and the Offeror are unable to ascertain at this stage the level of acceptance of the
Offers, the Company and the Offeror have not decided the exact actions that will be taken by them after
the close of the Offers to restore the Public Float of the Shares, if applicable. Separate announcements
will be made when necessary regarding the decision of any such placing, if the circumstances warrant.
So long as the Company remains a listed company on the GEM, the Stock Exchange will also
closely monitor all future acquisitions or disposals of assets of the Company. Any acquisitions or
disposals of assets by the Group will be subject to the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules.
Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange has the discretion to require the Offeror
to issue an announcement and a circular to the Shareholders irrespective of the size of any
proposed transactions, particularly when such proposed transactions represent a departure from
the principal activities of the Company.
The Stock Exchange also has the power to aggregate a series of acquisitions or disposals of
the Group and any such transactions may result in the Company being treated as if it were a new
listing applicant and subject to the requirements for new listing applicants as set out in the GEM
Listing Rules.
Your attention is drawn to the section headed ‘‘Intention of the Offeror and eSun in respect of the
Group’’ in the ‘‘Letter from HSBC’’ on pages 17 to 21 of this Composite Document. The Board is
positive as to the Offeror’s plans for the Company and its employees as it is expected that the capital
base for the Company will be enhanced to enable further development of the Company in the
entertainment business.
LATEST BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS OF THE GROUP
As set out under the ‘‘Use of Proceeds’’ section of the Circular, the Company intends to utilise the
net proceeds from the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription to build up its media and
entertainment businesses including film production, television drama production and distribution, events
management, investment in movie cinemas and artiste management, all with the primary focus in the
PRC and Macau markets, and for general working capital purposes.
Film production
The Group intends to invest in two to three movies primarily targeting viewers in the PRC market,
which require total expenditures of approximately HK$160 million. The main artiste for the first film
has been engaged by the Group in April 2011 and the contract with the production company was entered
into by the Group in May 2011. It is expected that the contracts with the remaining artistes will be
signed around June 2011. The first film has a production budget of HK$60 million to HK$80 million,
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and filming is expected to start around July 2011. The second film has a production budget of HK$50
million to HK$60 million and is still at its planning stage. The contracts with the production company
and the main artistes in relation to the second film are being negotiated and it is anticipated that they
will be signed some time around the third quarter of 2011. In early June 2011, the Company entered
into an agreement with a film director in Hong Kong which calls for the film director to undertake the
directorship of five films to be produced by the Group in a five-year period. Furthermore, the Company
is currently in negotiations in respect of an equity investment in a film to be produced by a leading
global production company.
Television drama production and distribution in the PRC
The Group intends to invest and co-invest approximately HK$130 million in television drama
production and the distribution of television drama series in the PRC. In May 2011, the Company
entered into an agreement with an independent animated cartoon production company to produce a series
of television drama of computer graphic animation comprising over 100 episodes of animated features
targeting the PRC children market. It is expected that the cartoon theme and story board and all
character graphic designs will be ready on or before 1 February 2012.
Events management
The Group intends to utilise approximately HK$80 million for the production of around 40
concerts. The contracts with some performing artistes are being negotiated. The Company has
substantially completed the negotiations and preparation of a draft agreement in respect of the
production of over 10 music concerts for a female artiste. It is expected that the signing of this
agreement will take place in June or July 2011. The Company has also commenced negotiations with
another male artiste in relation to the production of several super music concerts in the PRC. The
balance of the funds allocated for events management will be utilised as and when suitable investment
opportunities arise.
Investment in movie cinemas in the PRC
The Group is at an advanced stage of committing an investment in a cinema project, which is
located in a property currently under development in Sanlitun, Beijing. The Group, by way of a joint
venture with an independent PRC party, is expected to invest approximately HK$25 million in
renovating the premises and purchasing the equipment for the operation of the cinema. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, negotiations and drafting of a framework joint venture agreement have been
completed. It is expected that the formal joint venture agreement will be signed around three weeks after
the closing of the Offer Period. Operation of the cinema is anticipated to commence in 2014. The
Company will comply with the relevant announcement, reporting or other requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules as and where appropriate. In addition, the Group is also actively pursuing other
opportunities to invest in other movie cinemas in the PRC.
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Artiste management
The Group intends to invest approximately HK$45 million to HK$70 million to build up an artiste
management business. At this stage, the Group is in advance discussions with certain artistes, which
may lead to the signing of artiste management contracts in the third quarter of 2011. In particular, the
Company has substantially completed the negotiations and preparation of the agreement in respect of the
engagement of a female artiste. It is expected that the relevant artiste management agreement will be
signed in June or July 2011.
General
The aforementioned investment strategies of the Company are at different stages of development.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the contracts entered into by the Company represent an aggregate
commitment of approximately HK$103.5 million. In respect of those contracts which are expected to be
entered into by the Company in the coming months, the aggregate commitment of the Company thereto
is estimated to be approximately HK$85.5 million. In respect of the contracts under preliminary stage of
negotiations, and the timing of signing of which are yet to be determined, the aggregate commitment of
the Company thereto is estimated to be approximately HK$69 million. Save as disclosed above, no
agreement has been concluded in respect of the proposed business developments. Furthermore, save for
the aforementioned proposed investment in a cinema project, which will be made in the form of a joint
venture arrangement, the Company has yet to decide the form of investment for the other sectors. In the
event that the intended business developments fail to take place, the Company will endeavour to explore
other avenues to utilise the net proceeds from the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription. As at the
Latest Practicable Date, the Company has not entered into any formal discussions to pursue any
acquisition. If a general obligation of disclosure under Rule 17.10 of the GEM Listing Rules arises, the
Company will make an announcement in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules accordingly. In the
event that the intended transactions or any acquisition materialises in the future, the Company will
comply with the relevant requirements under the GEM Listing Rules as and where appropriate.
The Company will also inform the Shareholders by way of announcement if there is any significant
update on the use of net proceeds from the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription as set out in the
Circular.
RECOMMENDATION
Pursuant to Rules 2.1 and 2.8 of the Takeovers Code, all independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, Mr. Zhang Xi, Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter and Mr. Wong Kam Choi have
been appointed as members of the Independent Board Committee for consideration of and making of
recommendations to the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options in respect of the
terms of the Offers. Hercules Capital has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to advise
the Independent Board Committee, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options in
respect of the terms of the Offers. The appointment of Hercules Capital has been approved by the
Independent Board Committee.
Your attention is drawn to the ‘‘Letter from the Independent Board Committee’’ set out on page 34
of this Composite Document which contains its recommendation to the Independent Shareholders and
the holders of the Share Options in respect of the terms of the Offers and the ‘‘Letter from Hercules
Capital’’, as set out on pages 35 to 50 of this Composite Document, which contains its advice to the
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Independent Board Committee, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options in
respect of the fairness and reasonableness of the terms of the Offers, and the principal factors and
reasons it has considered before arriving at its advice.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Your attention is drawn to the ‘‘Letter from HSBC’’ as set out on pages 11 to 21 and to
Appendix I ‘‘Further Terms of the Offers’’ on pages 51 to 58 of this Composite Document which
contains details of the Offers.
You are recommended to read this Composite Document and the accompanying Form(s) of
Acceptance for details of the Offers.
Your attention is also drawn to the information set out in the appendices to this Composite
Document. In considering what action to take in connection with the Offers, you should consider your
own tax or financial position and if you are in any doubt, you should consult your professional advisers.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board
Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited
Chan Chi Ming, Alvin
Executive Director
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Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 8075)

16 June 2011
To the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options
Dear Sir or Madam,
UNCONDITIONAL MANDATORY CASH OFFER BY HSBC
ON BEHALF OF
PERFECT SKY TO (A) ACQUIRE ALL THE SHARES IN THE COMPANY (OTHER THAN
THOSE ALREADY OWNED OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED BY PERFECT SKY AND THE
PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT); AND (B) CANCEL THE SHARE OPTIONS
INTRODUCTION
We refer to the composite offer and response document dated 16 June 2011 jointly issued by the
Company, the Offeror and eSun (the ‘‘Composite Document’’) of which this letter forms part.
Capitalised terms used herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Composite
Document unless the context otherwise requires.
We have been appointed to constitute the Independent Board Committee to consider the terms of
the Offers and to advise you as to whether, in our opinion, the terms of the Offers are fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are concerned.
Hercules Capital has been appointed to advise us in this respect. Details of Hercules Capital’s advice
and the principal factors taken into consideration by Hercules Capital in arriving at its recommendation
are set out in the letter from Hercules Capital on pages 35 to 50 of the Composite Document.
We also wish to draw your attention to (i) the letter from Hercules Capital; (ii) the letter from
HSBC; and (iii) the additional information set out in the appendices to the Composite Document.
RECOMMENDATION
Taking into account the terms of the Share Offer and the Share Option Offer and the advice from
Hercules Capital, we consider that the terms of the Offers are not fair and reasonable so far as the
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options (as the case may be) are concerned. As
such, we recommend the Independent Shareholders not to accept the Share Offer and the holders of the
Share Options not to accept the Share Option Offer.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Independent Board Committee
Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited
Mr. Zhang Xi
Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter
Mr. Wong Kam Choi
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
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The following is the text of a letter of advice in connection with the Offers from the independent
financial adviser to the Independent Board Committee, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of
the Share Options which is prepared for the purpose of inclusion in this Composite Document.

Hercules Capital Limited
1503 Ruttonjee House
11 Duddell Street
Central
Hong Kong
16 June 2011
To the Independent Board Committee, Independent Shareholders and holders of the Share Options
Dear Sirs,

UNCONDITIONAL MANDATORY CASH OFFER BY HSBC
ON BEHALF OF PERFECT SKY
TO (A) ACQUIRE ALL THE SHARES IN THE COMPANY
(OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY OWNED OR AGREED TO BE ACQUIRED
BY PERFECT SKY AND THE PARTIES ACTING IN CONCERT WITH IT);
AND
(B) CANCEL THE SHARE OPTIONS

INTRODUCTION
We refer to our engagement as the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent Board
Committee, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options with respect to the terms
of the Offers, details of which are set out in the letter from HSBC and the letter from the Board
contained in the Composite Document dated 16 June 2011, of which this letter forms part. Terms used
in this letter have the same meanings as defined elsewhere in the Composite Document unless the
context requires otherwise.
On 23 March 2011, the Company and the Subscribers entered into the Subscription Agreement,
pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each Share Subscriber, and each
Share Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription Shares; and (ii) the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each CN Subscriber, and each CN Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes. The Subscription Agreement was approved
by the Shareholders at the SGM held on 12 May 2011.
Immediately following the First Completion which took place on 9 June 2011, the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it owned in aggregate 6,918,343,209 Shares, representing approximately
68.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, and the First
Completion Convertible Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$371,386,642, which can be
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converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192 Conversion Shares. The Offeror is therefore obliged under
Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code to make an unconditional mandatory cash offer for all the issued
Shares and other securities issued by the Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it. In addition, pursuant to Rule 13 of the Takeovers Code, a
comparable offer is also made and extended to the holders of the Share Options.
The Independent Board Committee, comprising all independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, Mr. Zhang Xi, Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter and Mr. Wong Kam Choi, has been
established to make recommendations to the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share
Options in respect of the Offers. We, Hercules Capital Limited, have been appointed, with the approval
of the Independent Board Committee, to give an independent opinion to the Independent Board
Committee, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options as to whether the terms
of the Offers are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share
Options are concerned and whether the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options
should accept the Offers.
We are not associated with the Offeror, the Company, their respective substantial shareholders or
parties acting in concert with any of them. Apart from normal professional fees payable to us in
connection with this appointment, no arrangement exists whereby we will receive any fee or benefit
from the Offeror or the Company or their respective substantial shareholders or any party acting in
concert with any of them.
BASIS OF OUR OPINION
In formulating our opinion and recommendation, we have relied on the information and
representations supplied, and the opinion expressed, by the Directors and/or management of the
Company and have assumed that such information and statements, and representations made to us or
referred to in the Composite Document are true, accurate and complete in all material respects as of the
date hereof and will continue as such during the period the Offers remain open for acceptance. The
Directors have jointly and severally accepted full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
(other than those in relation to the Offeror, the terms and conditions of the Offers and the intention of
the Offeror and eSun regarding the future of the Group) contained in the Composite Document and
confirmed, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed
in the Composite Document (other than those expressed by the Offeror) have been arrived at after due
and careful consideration and there are no other facts not contained in the Composite Document, the
omission of which would make any statement in the Composite Document misleading. The directors of
the Offeror jointly and severally accepted full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
contained in the Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and all the other
Subscribers) and confirmed, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge,
opinions expressed in the Composite Document (other than those expressed by the Group and all the
other Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts
not contained in the Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement in the
Composite Document misleading. The directors of eSun (except Mr. Albert Thomas da Rosa, Junior, a
non-executive director of eSun, who is also a partner-in-charge of the legal services provided by a firm
of solicitors acting for the Company in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement, does not take responsibility in respect of the Composite Document relating to eSun due to
conflict of interest) jointly and severally accepted full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
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contained in the Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and all the other
Subscribers except the Offeror) and confirmed, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of
their knowledge, opinions expressed in the Composite Document (other than those expressed by the
Group and all the other Subscribers except the Offeror) have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and there are no other facts not contained in the Composite Document, the omission of
which would make any statement in the Composite Document misleading.
We consider that we have reviewed sufficient information to reach an informed view, to justify
reliance on the accuracy of the information contained in the Composite Document and to provide a
reasonable basis for our recommendation. We have no reasons to suspect that any material information
has been withheld by the Directors, management of the Company or the Offeror, or is misleading, untrue
or inaccurate, and consider that they may be relied upon in formulating our opinion. We have not,
however, for the purpose of this exercise, conducted any independent detailed investigation or audit into
the businesses or affairs or future prospects of the Group. Our opinion is necessarily based on the
financial, economic, market and other conditions in effect and the information made available to us as at
the Latest Practicable Date.
We have not considered the tax implications on the Independent Shareholders and the holders of
the Share Options arising from acceptances or non-acceptances of the Offers as these depend on their
individual circumstances. It is emphasized that we will not accept responsibility for any tax effect on or
liability of any person resulting from his or her acceptance or non-acceptance of the Offers. Independent
Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options who are in any doubt as to their tax position, or who
are subject to overseas tax or Hong Kong taxation on securities dealings, should consult their own
professional advisers without delay.
PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED
In arriving at our opinion regarding the Offers, we have considered the following principal factors
and reasons:
1.

Background to and principal terms of the Offers

On 23 March 2011, the Company and the Subscribers entered into the Subscription
Agreement, pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each Share
Subscriber, and each Share Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription
Shares; and (ii) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each CN Subscriber, and each
CN Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes. The Subscription
Agreement was approved by the Shareholders at the SGM held on 12 May 2011. Immediately
following the First Completion which took place on 9 June 2011, the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it owned in aggregate 6,918,343,209 Shares, representing approximately 68.9% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, and the First
Completion Convertible Notes in an aggregate principal amount of HK$371,386,642, which can be
converted into a maximum of 17,856,118,192 Conversion Shares, representing approximately
177.9% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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Under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, the Offeror is obliged to make an unconditional
mandatory cash offer for all the issued Shares issued by the Company not already owned or agreed
to be acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it. In addition, pursuant to Rule 13
of the Takeovers Code, a comparable offer is also required to be made and extended to the holders
of the Share Options. Accordingly, HSBC is making the Offers on behalf of the Offeror for all of
the issued Shares and other securities issued by the Company not already owned or agreed to be
acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it on the following basis:
a.

Share Offer
For each Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.02785 in cash

b.

Share Option Offer
For each underlying Share exercisable
under the Share Options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . HK$0.00001 in cash

The Offers are unconditional and therefore are neither conditional upon any minimum level
of acceptances being received nor subject to any other condition. Further details of the terms and
conditions of the Offers, including the procedures for acceptance, are set out in the letter from
HSBC and Appendix I to the Composite Document.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were 10,038,257,612 Shares in issue and outstanding
Share Options in respect of 166,800,000 Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share
(subject to adjustments). Other than the above, the Company had no other options, warrants,
convertible bonds or other securities that carry a right to subscribe for or which are convertible
into Shares.
2.

Financial performance of the Group

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection with the
provision of value-added telecommunication services in respect of digital distribution of ringtones,
games and media content to mobile phone users in the PRC; the sale of music recorded in digital
format; and the entertainment business.
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The audited financial information of the Group for the three years ended 31 March 2011 are
summarized as follows:
Table 1 — Consolidated financial information of the Group
For the year ended 31 March
2011
2010
2009
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Turnover
— Licensing of software income
— Concert tickets income
— Event management income

Gross profit

1,968
6,232
1,392

1,914
—
—

2,706
—
—

9,592

1,914

2,706

1,665

708

1,341

Loss before tax

(45,736)

(19,953)

(40,707)

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

(43,887)

(16,920)

(47,822)

As at 31 March
2011
2010
HK$’000
HK$’000
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company

6,026
41,693
(2,946)
(21,730)
24,624

7,417
49,339
(3,622)
(7,590)
52,375

For the two years ended 31 March 2010, the Group’s turnover was mainly generated from the
development and licensing of software for use in connection with the provision of value-added
telecommunication services in respect of the digital distribution of ringtones, games and media
content to the mobile phone users in the PRC. The turnover of the Group from licensing of
software business for the year ended 31 March 2010 was approximately HK$1.9 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 29.3% as compared to that of the previous year.
However, owing to the reduction of allowance for receivables, impairment on other intangible
assets and impairment on goodwill of approximately HK$5.9 million, HK$3.5 million and
HK$18.0 million respectively, the loss before tax dropped by approximately 51.0% as compared to
that of the previous year and was approximately HK$20.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2010. The loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately
64.6% from approximately HK$47.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2009 to approximately
HK$16.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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In order to strengthen the entertainment business of the Group and to broaden its income
source, the Group appointed an agent in August 2010 for soliciting, referring and sourcing
customers and managing, supervising and monitoring projects in relation to the entertainment
business for the Group in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. During the third quarter of the
financial year ended 31 March 2011, the agent successfully introduced a business opportunity to
the Group for organizing a concert in one of the major cities in the PRC for a renowned artiste in
December 2010 and referred some event management projects in Macau to the Group. As a result,
the turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 increased sharply by approximately
401.1%, as compared to that of the previous year, to HK$9.6 million, of which approximately
HK$2.0 million, HK$6.2 million and HK$1.4 million were contributed by the licensing of software
income, concert tickets income and event management income respectively. Despite a very
substantial increase in turnover for the year ended 31 March 2011, the gross profit of the Group
increased only by approximately 135.2% as compared to that of the previous year as a significant
development cost was incurred for the further development of its entertainment business during the
year ended 31 March 2011. Moreover, as a result of the increases in staff costs, excluding
directors’ emoluments, of approximately HK$6.0 million, other equity-settled share-based payment
of approximately HK$3.3 million, impairment on other intangible assets of approximately HK$1.3
million, allowance for trade and other receivables of approximately HK$1.9 million and finance
costs of approximately HK$1.8 million for issuance of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond, the
loss before tax of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 increased to approximately
HK$45.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 129.2% as compared to that of the
previous year, while the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company increased by
approximately 159.4% from approximately HK$16.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2010 to
approximately HK$43.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2011.
As at 31 March 2011, the non-current assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$6.0 million, of which approximately HK$1.5 million were property, plant and equipment and
approximately HK$4.6 million were other intangible assets, which included computer software,
club debenture and customer contracts, while the current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$41.7 million, which mainly comprised prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$16.4 million and bank and cash balances of approximately
HK$20.4 million. The current liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately HK$2.9 million
as at 31 March 2011, which represented accruals and other payables. The non-current liabilities of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$21.7 million, which included deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$0.5 million and the Fully Converted Convertible Bond of approximately
HK$21.2 million. As at 31 March 2011, net assets attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$24.6 million.
On 23 March 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with the
Subscribers, details of which were set out in the Joint Announcements and the Circular. The First
Completion took place on 9 June 2011 and the Company raised approximately HK$490.0 million
for building up its media and entertainment businesses, including events management, film
production, artiste management, television drama production and distribution and investment in
movie cinemas, with primary focus in the PRC and Macau markets, and general working capital
purpose. With the First Completion, the Company’s current assets increased by approximately
HK$490.0 million and the net assets attributable to owners of the Company increased to a range of
approximately HK$143.2 million to approximately HK$514.6 million, subject to the valuation of
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the liability component of the First Completion Notes. Based on 10,038,257,612 Shares in issue as
at the Latest Practicable Date, the adjusted net assets attributable to owners of the Company per
Share (the ‘‘Adjusted NAV per Share’’) shall be ranged from approximately HK$0.01427 to
approximately HK$0.05127.
3.

Future prospect of the Group

As set out in the Circular and the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March
2011, the Share Subscription and the CN Subscription shall provide new capital to the Group for
further development of its entertainment business and broaden the shareholder base of the
Company. With the established business networks of eSun, which is principally engaged in the
development and operation of and investment in media, entertainment, music production and
distribution, the investment in and production and distribution of film and video format products,
the provision of advertising agency services and the sale of cosmetic products, and the enormous
experience and business network of Mr. Tse On Kin, the owner of Sun Great, in the
telecommunication industry, the Company may diversify its entertainment business into other
sectors such as music, film, artiste management, internet content licensing and television drama
with primary focus in the PRC and Macau markets and explore and expand its entertainment
business in the mobile media, which is currently considered as one of the markets with significant
potential in the entertainment industry. The Directors consider, and we concur with their view, that
the potential opportunities and synergistic effects to be brought by eSun and Sun Great might
enhance the operational efficiency and cost effectiveness of the Group and thereby maximize
return to the Shareholders.
According to the annual report of the Company, approximately 85.5% of the revenue of the
Group was generated from the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2011. It is also stated in the letter
from HSBC contained in the Composite Document that the Group intends to focus its media and
entertainment businesses primarily in the PRC and Macau markets in the future. Therefore, we
have analysed the outlook of the cultural and entertainment industry in the PRC. Based on the
information published by National Bureau of Statistics of China in April 2011, the gross domestic
product (GDP) of the PRC for the three months ended 31 March 2011 was approximately
RMB9,631.1 billion, representing an increase of 9.7% as compared to the last corresponding
period. The per capita disposable income of urban households also showed a strong growth of
10.2% to RMB9,757 for the six months ended 30 June 2010. The OECD Economic Outlook No.
88 issued by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development in November 2010
revealed that the vigorous economic growth in the PRC had slowed down during the first half of
2010 as the impact of the stimulus plan faded, but it has picked up since then and such renewed
buoyancy is projected to be continued with an expected growth rate of 9.7% in the real GDP of the
PRC in 2011 and 2012 as a result of the growth in domestic demand.
In 2009, the State Council published ‘‘The Cultural Industry Promotional Plan’’ and
‘‘Guidance on the Promotion and Development of Chinese Film Industry’’, pursuant to which film
industry and related cultural industries were officially included as national strategic industries. The
announcement of these state policies indicate that there will be more beneficial policies and
promotional plans to further promote cultural and entertainment industry in the PRC in the next
three to five years. According to Mr. Sun Zhijun, the director general of the Office of Central
Leading Group for Reform of Cultural Systems, in a meeting with the press on 28 February 2011,
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Beijing will expedite bank loans and facilitate public listings for companies involving in film and
television production, live entertainment, gaming and publishing. Given the growing popularity of
internet technology and e-readers, the PRC government also aims to encourage the videogame and
media production sector. Mr. Sun Zhijun also stated in the meeting that the revenue of the PRC’s
entertainment market was estimated at RMB1.3 trillion in 2010. According to the statistics
published by EntGroup Inc. (a member of Cominsight Consulting Group), a leading entertainment
research and consulting service provider in the PRC, the revenue generated from film industry of
the PRC increased from RMB6.2 billion in 2009 to RMB10.17 billion in 2010, representing an
increase of approximately 64.0%.
Given the continuous economic growth in the PRC and the favorable government policies on
the film and cultural industries, the management of the Company expects, and we concur with its
view, that the market outlook of the cultural and entertainment industry in the PRC, where the
Group’s businesses shall be focused on, shall remain positive in the foreseeable future.
4.

Share Offer
The Offer Price of HK$0.02785 represents:
(i)

a premium of approximately 160.3% over the audited net asset value attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 March 2011 of approximately HK$0.0107 per Share;

(ii)

a premium of approximately 95.2% to the minimum Adjusted NAV per Share of
approximately HK$0.01427;

(iii) a discount of approximately 45.7% to the maximum Adjusted NAV per Share of
approximately HK$0.05127;
(iv) a discount of approximately 89.3% to the closing price of HK$0.26 per Share as quoted
on the GEM on the Latest Practicable Date;
(v)

a discount of approximately 92.8% to the closing price of HK$0.385 per Share as
quoted on the GEM on the Last Trading Day;

(vi) a discount of approximately 92.5% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$0.372 per Share as quoted on the GEM for the five trading days immediately prior
to and including the Last Trading Day; and
(vii) a discount of approximately 92.1% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$0.355 per Share as quoted on the GEM for the ten trading days immediately prior
to and including the Last Trading Day.
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a.

Historical share price of the Shares

In order to assess the fairness and reasonableness of the Offer Price, we have reviewed
the movements in trading price of the Shares during the period from 23 March 2010, being
twelve months immediately preceding the Last Trading Day, to the Latest Practicable Date
(the ‘‘Review Period’’). The closing prices of the Shares during the Review Period are
depicted in Chart 1 below:
Chart 1 — Closing prices of the Shares during the Review Period

Source: the website of the Stock Exchange

As illustrated in Chart 1, the Shares were traded above the Offer Price throughout the
Review Period. At the start of the Review Period, the closing price of the Shares fluctuated
in a range of HK$0.194 to HK$0.220 during the period from 23 March 2010 to 23 April
2010. Since then, the closing price of the Shares increased gradually and reached the shortterm highest level of HK$0.285 on 5 May 2010 subsequent to the publication of the
announcement of the Company in respect of the completion of the subscription of the Fully
Converted Convertible Bond and the Option after the close of trading hours on 3 May 2010.
The closing price of the Shares then decreased steadily to the lowest level in the Review
Period of HK$0.148 on 25 August 2010. Subsequently, the closing price of the Shares
fluctuated between HK$0.150 and HK$0.198 during the period from 26 August 2010 to 15
November 2010 before it rose to HK$0.230 on 18 November 2010. After that, the closing
price of the Shares gradually dropped to HK$0.182 on 10 December 2010 and rebounded to
HK$0.203 on 13 December 2010, being the day on which the Company announced that it
was in preliminary negotiation with an independent third party in relation to a possible
acquisition of certain entertainment business. The closing price of the Company remained
stable at similar level until 31 December 2010 and increased to HK$0.280 on 14 January
2011 following by the downward plunge to HK$0.227 on 11 February 2011. Subsequent to
the publication of the Group’s third quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December
2010 after the close of trading hours on 11 February 2011, which showed increases of
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approximately 295.2% in turnover and of approximately 187.4% in net loss attributable to
owners of the Company as compared to the last corresponding period, the closing price of the
Shares rose to HK$0.255 on the next trading day and further increased to HK$0.385 on the
Last Trading Day. The trading of Shares was suspended during the period from 23 March
2011 to 31 March 2011 pending the release of the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011.
On 1 April 2011, being the day immediately following the publication of the Joint
Announcement dated 31 March 2011, the closing price of the Shares surged to its highest
level in the Review Period of HK$0.395 and then decreased to HK$0.26 on the Latest
Practicable Date.
b.

Historical trading volume of the Shares

The average daily trading volume of the Shares, the percentages of average daily
trading volume of the Shares as compared to the total number of issued Shares and the
Shares held by the public during the Review Period are shown in Table 2 below:
Table 2 — Historical average daily trading volume of the Shares

Month
2010
March (Note
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

3)

2011
January
February
March (Note 4)
April
May
June (Note 5)

Average daily
trading volume

% of average
daily trading
volume to
the total
number of issued
Shares (Note 1)

% of average
daily trading
volume to the
total number of
Shares in public
hands (Note 2)

5,613,100
15,583,211
11,291,500
957,619
2,153,714
462,419
4,317,524
8,143,700
21,361,288
9,256,106

0.0559%
0.1552%
0.1125%
0.0095%
0.0215%
0.0046%
0.0430%
0.0811%
0.2128%
0.0922%

0.1484%
0.4121%
0.2986%
0.0253%
0.0570%
0.0122%
0.1142%
0.2154%
0.5649%
0.2448%

29,083,619
34,570,889
27,569,478
35,301,278
21,750,200
14,676,750

0.2897%
0.3444%
0.2746%
0.3517%
0.2167%
0.1462%

0.7691%
0.9142%
0.7291%
0.9336%
0.5752%
0.3881%

Source: the website of the Stock Exchange
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Notes:
1.

Calculated based on 10,038,257,612 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

2.

Calculated based on 3,781,357,612 Shares held in public hands as at the Latest Practicable Date.

3.

Represents trading volume for the period from 23 March 2010 to 31 March 2010.

4.

Trading of Shares was suspended from 23 March 2011 to 31 March 2011.

5.

Represents trading volume for the period from 1 June 2011 to the Latest Practicable Date.

Table 2 demonstrates that during the Review Period, the average daily trading volume
of the Shares was in the range of approximately 0.0046% to approximately 0.3517% as to the
total number of issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and approximately 0.0122% to
approximately 0.9336% as to the total number of Shares held in public hands as at the Latest
Practicable Date. The above statistics showed that the liquidity of the Shares was relatively
low during the Review Period.
Given the thin trading volume of the Shares in the Review Period, a sufficiently active
market may not exist to enable the Shareholders to sell the Shares in bulk quantity without
exerting a downward pressure on the price of the Shares in the short term. Therefore, we
anticipate that the Shareholders may have difficulties in selling a significant number of
Shares in the open market within a short period of time if the same trading pattern of the
Shares persists during and shortly after the Offer Period.
c.

Comparison with market comparables

In forming our opinion on the Offer Price, we have also considered the commonly
adopted comparable approaches in evaluation of a company, namely price-to-earnings
approach, dividends approach and net assets approach. However, given that the Group
recorded net loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the Company had not declared any
dividend to the Shareholders during the year ended 31 March 2011, we consider that the
price-to-earnings approach and the dividends approach are not applicable for assessing the
value of the Group.
Based on the Adjusted NAV per Share in the range of approximately HK$0.01427 to
approximately HK$0.05127, the adjusted price-to-book ratio (PBR) of the Group implied by
the Offer Price of HK$0.02785 range from approximately 0.54 times to 1.95 times.
In assessing the fairness and reasonableness of the Offer Price, we have compared the
adjusted PBR of the Group implied by the Offer Price with those of other comparables which
are (a) currently listed on the GEM or the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; and (b)
principally engaged in entertainment business. Based on the above-mentioned criteria, we
have identified eight comparable companies (the ‘‘Industry Comparables’’), being all the
companies which meet all the abovementioned criteria. Given the Industry Comparables are
chosen to have similar principal businesses and market feature (i.e. listing on the Stock
Exchange), we consider that the Industry Comparables are fair and representative samples for
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comparison purposes. Set out in Table 3 below is a comparison of the valuation statistics of
the Company implied by the Offer Price with the market valuations at which the Industry
Comparables were traded as at the Latest Practicable Date.
Table 3: Trading multiples of the Industry Comparables and the Company
Market
capitalization as
at the Latest

Company name (Stock
code)

Principal business activities

A8 Digital Music Holdings

Selling music content through mobile

Limited (800)

phones as ringtone, ringback tone, and

Practicable Date

PBR

HK$’ million

times

823.3

1.32

156.4

4.57

926.7

1.86

763.5

1.05

2,946.4

0.48

968.9

1.70

985.7

2.17

interactive voice response music in PRC
China 3D Digital

Artiste management services; film and

Entertainment Limited

television programme production,

(8078)

distribution and licensing

China Mandarin Holdings

Film production and related business, the

Limited (0009)

film processing, rental of property and
property development

ChinaVision Media Group

Production, distribution and licensing of

Limited (1060)

films, television programmes and television
drama series; development and distribution
of mobile games; trading of securities;
sales of cement, clinker and lag powder

eSun (571)

Development, operation and investment in
media and entertainment; production and
distribution of music, film and video
format products; provision of advertising
agency services and development of
integrated leisure resort

Mei Ah Entertainment

Television operations, film exhibition, film

Group Limited (391)

rights licensing and sub-licensing, sale and
distribution of films and programs and
processing of audio usual products through
its associated companies

Neo Telemedia Limited

Sales and distribution of telecommunication

(8167)

products, providing wireless services,
production and sales of videos and films,
licensing of video and copyrights, film
rights and artiste management
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Market
capitalization as
Company name (Stock

at the Latest

code)

Principal business activities

Orange Sky Golden

Distribution of worldwide film and video,

Harvest Entertainment

film exhibition; production of films and

(Holdings) Limited (1132)

television programmes; provision of

Practicable Date
HK$’ million

PBR
times

892.3

0.65

advertising and consulting services
Minimum

0.48

Maximum

4.57

Average

1.76

The Company (8075)

Development and licensing of software
and technology for use in connection
with provision of value-added
telecommunication services in respect of
digital distribution of ringtones, games

279.5Note

Minimum:
0.54
Maximum:
1.95

and media content to mobile phone users
in the PRC; the sale of music recorded in
digital format; and the entertainment
business
Source: the website of the Stock Exchange
Note:

The figure represents the hypothetical market value of the Company calculated based on the Offer
Price.

As shown in Table 3, the PBR of the Industry Comparables ranged from 0.48 times to
4.57 times with an average of 1.76 times. The adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price range
from 0.54 times to 1.95 times. The minimum adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price falls
within the range, but below the average, of the PBR of the Industry Comparables while the
maximum adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price falls within the range, and above the
average, of the PBR of the Industry Comparables.
However, as each of the Industry Comparables may not be entirely comparable to the
Group in terms of scale of operations, market capitalization, financial position and
performance, future prospect as well as other relevant criteria, and all of these factors may
affect the valuation of a company as illustrated by the various results in our comparison, we
have considered the results of the above comparison together with other factors stated in this
letter as a whole in forming our opinion and the Independent Shareholders and the holders of
the Share Options are advised not to rely solely on the results of the above comparison for
making the decision on whether to accept the Offer.
Based on the above analysis and taking into consideration that (i) the Offer Price is
lower than the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the GEM throughout the Review
Period; (ii) the Offer Price represents a discount of approximately 89.3% to the closing price
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of HK$0.26 per Share as quoted on the GEM on the Latest Practicable Date; and (iii) the
minimum adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price is lower than the average PBR of the
Industry Comparables although the maximum adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price is
higher than the average PBR of the Industry Comparables and both of which fall within the
range of the PBR of the Industry Comparables, we consider that the Offer Price is
unattractive and not fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are
concerned.
5.

Share Option Offer

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Share Options to subscribe for 166,800,000 Shares at
the exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share (subject to adjustments) remained outstanding.
As the Share Options are ‘‘in-the-money’’ when comparing the exercise price of HK$0.198 of
the Share Options with the closing price of HK$0.26 per Share on the Latest Practicable Date, the
holders of the Share Options may receive a higher consideration by exercising the subscription
rights attaching to the Share Options and disposing of the Shares so subscribed in the open market
during the Offer Period as compared to accepting the Share Option Offer at the consideration of
HK$0.00001. Therefore, we consider that the terms of the Share Option Offer are unattractive and
not fair and reasonable so far as the holders of the Share Options are concerned.
6.

Information on the Offeror and its intention regarding the Group

The Offeror, an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on
9 March 2011, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of eSun, which is an exempted company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed and traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 571). LSD, through one of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, is the controlling shareholder of eSun and holds 447,604,186 issued shares in eSun,
representing approximately 36.00% of the entire issued share capital of eSun as at the Latest
Practicable Date. As at the Latest Practicable Date, LSD was held as to approximately 47.97% by
LSG and two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and LSG in turn was held as to approximately
29.99% by a company equally owned by Mr. Lam and Madam U and as to approximately 8.07%
by Mr. Lam. eSun is an investment holding company and the principal activities of its subsidiaries
include the development and operation of and investment in media, entertainment, music
production and distribution, the investment in and production and distribution of film and video
format products, the provision of advertising agency services and the sale of cosmetic products.
eSun also owns a 40.58% shareholding interest in Lai Fung Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange with principal business activity of property investment and development in the
PRC. It is stated in the Composite Document that the Offeror and its ultimate beneficial owners are
third parties independent of and not connected with any of the Company and its subsidiaries and
their respective directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders, and their respective
associates, and otherwise are not connected persons of the Company.
According to the letter from HSBC, it is the intention of the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it to maintain the listing of the Shares on the GEM and to continue the existing
principal businesses of the Group after the close of the Offers. It is the intention of the Offeror and
eSun to leverage the Group’s established business networks and core strength in media,
entertainment and events management to diversify the media and entertainment businesses of the
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Group to other sectors such as film production, artiste management, television drama production
and distribution in the PRC and investment in movie cinemas in the PRC. In order to fully utilize
the respective business platforms of eSun and the Group, it is the intention of eSun and the Group
to carry out different segments of media and entertainment businesses in different geographical
area. eSun will focus on Hong Kong and international markets whereas the Group will concentrate
on the PRC and Macau markets. Detailed development plans of the Group are set out in the letter
from HSBC and the letter from the Board.
The Offeror and the Company will take appropriate steps, including a placing of Shares to
other investors who are independent and not connected persons of the Company, to ensure that the
public float of the Shares will not be less than the current minimum prescribed percentage
applicable to the Company of approximately 25.0% as required under the GEM Listing Rules upon
the close of the Offers. Since the Company and the Offeror are unable to ascertain the level of
acceptance of the Offers at the moment, no concrete plans have been formulated in respect of the
restoration of the public float of the Shares after close of the Offers. The Offeror does not intend
to exercise any right which may be available to it under the provisions of the Companies
Ordinance to compulsorily acquire any outstanding Offer Shares not acquired under the Share
Offer after the close of the Share Offer.
RECOMMENDATION
Although there are uncertainties on the future prospects and profitability of the Group as it has just
started to strengthen its entertainment business by the fourth quarter of 2010 and the Shareholders may
have difficulties in selling a significant number of Shares in the open market during and shortly after the
Offer Period given the low liquidity of the Shares, having considered the principal factors and reasons
stated above, in particular (i) the Offer Price is in deep discount to the closing price of the Shares on the
Latest Practicable Date and the maximum Adjusted NAV per Share as at 31 March 2011 although it
represents a premium to the minimum Adjusted NAV per Share as at 31 March 2011; (ii) the minimum
adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price is lower than the average PBR of the Industry Comparables
although the maximum adjusted PBR implied by the Offer Price is higher than the average PBR of the
Industry Comparables, and both of which fall within the range of the PBR of the Industry Comparables;
(iii) as the exercise price of the Share Options was lower than the prevailing market price of the Shares,
the holders of the Share Options may receive a higher consideration by exercising the subscription right
attaching to the Share Options and disposing of the Shares so subscribed in the open market during the
Offer Period as compared to accepting the Share Option Offer; (iv) the market outlook of the cultural
and entertainment industries in the PRC is good; and (v) the Offeror and its concert parties, which are
principally engaged in, inter alia, the development and operation of and investment in media,
entertainment, music production and distribution, investment in and production and distribution of film
and video format products and the provision of advertising agency services, may bring in synergy effect
to the Group for its development of the entertainment business and increase the value of the Company in
the long-run, we are of the view that the terms of the Offers are not fair and reasonable so far as the
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are concerned. As such, we recommend
the Independent Board Committee to advise the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share
Options, and recommend the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options, not to
accept the Offers.
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However, the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are reminded that
they should carefully and closely monitor the market price and the liquidity of the Shares before the end
of the Offer Period and consider accepting the Offers rather than selling their Shares in the open market
if the net proceeds from the sale of their Shares in open market after deducting all transaction costs are
less than the net amount to be received under the Offers.
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options are also strongly advised that the
decision to realize or hold their investments in the Shares and the Share Options is subject to individual
circumstances and investment objectives.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Hercules Capital Limited
Louis Koo
Managing Director

Amilia Tsang
Director
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PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFERS
1.1

Share Offer

To accept the Share Offer, you should complete and sign the WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance
in accordance with the instructions printed thereon, which instructions form part of the terms of
the Share Offer.
(a)

If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in respect
of your Share(s) is/are registered in your name, and you wish to accept the Share Offer,
you must send the duly completed WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance together with the
relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) for not
less than the number of Shares in respect of which you intend to accept the Share Offer
by post or by hand to the Registrar marked ‘‘Rojam Share Offer’’ on the envelope.

(b)

If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in respect
of your Shares is/are registered in the name of a nominee company or a name other than
your own, and you wish to accept the Share Offer whether in full or in part of your
Shares, you must either:
(i)

lodge your share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other
document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in
respect thereof) with the nominee company, or other nominee, with instructions
authorising it to accept the Share Offer on your behalf and requesting it to deliver
the completed WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance together with the relevant share
certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title (and/
or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) to the
Registrar; or

(ii)

arrange for the Shares to be registered in your name by the Company through the
Registrar, and send the completed WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance together with
the relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other
document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in
respect thereof) to the Registrar by no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date; or

(iii) if your Shares have been lodged with your licensed securities dealer/registered
institution in securities/custodian bank through CCASS, instruct your licensed
securities dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank to authorise
HKSCC Nominees Limited to accept the Share Offer on your behalf on or before
the deadline set by HKSCC Nominees Limited. In order to meet the deadline set
by HKSCC Nominees Limited, you should check with your licensed securities
dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank for the timing on the
processing of your instruction, and submit your instruction to your licensed
securities dealer/registered institution in securities/custodian bank as required by
them; or
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(iv) if your Shares have been lodged with your investor participant’s account
maintained with CCASS, authorise your instruction via the CCASS Phone System
or CCASS Internet System on or before the deadline set out by HKSCC Nominee
Limited.
(c)

If the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title
(and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in respect
of your Shares is/are not readily available and/or is/are lost and you wish to accept the
Share Offer, the WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance should nevertheless be completed and
delivered to the Registrar together with a letter stating that you have lost one or more of
your share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or other document(s) of title (and/
or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) or that it is/
they are not readily available. If you find such document(s) or if it/they become(s)
available, it/they should be forwarded to the Registrar as soon as possible thereafter. If
you have lost your share certificate(s), you should also write to the Registrar for a letter
of indemnity which, when completed in accordance with the instructions given, should
be returned to the Registrar.

(d)

If you have lodged transfer(s) of any of your Shares for registration in your name and
have not yet received your share certificate(s), and you wish to accept the Share Offer
in respect of your Shares, you should nevertheless complete the WHITE Form(s) of
Acceptance and deliver it to the Registrar together with the transfer receipt(s) duly
signed by yourself by not later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date. Such action will be
deemed to be an irrevocable authority to HSBC and/or the Offeror or their respective
agent(s) to collect from the Registrar on your behalf the relevant share certificate(s)
when issued and to deliver such certificate(s) to the Registrar as if it was/they were
delivered to the Registrar with the WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance.

(e)

Acceptance of the Share Offer will be treated as valid only if the duly completed
WHITE Form of Acceptance is received by the Registrar by not later than 4:00 p.m. on
the Closing Date or such later time and/or date as the Offeror may determine in
compliance with the requirements of the Takeovers Code and announce, and is:
(i)

accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or
any other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities
required in respect thereof) and, if those share certificate(s) is/are not registered in
your name, such other documents in order to establish your right to become the
registered holder of the relevant Shares; or

(ii)

from a registered holder of the Shares or his/her personal representative (but only
up to the amount of the registered holding and only to the extent that the
acceptance relates to the Shares which are not taken into account under another
sub-paragraph of this paragraph (e)); or

(iii) certified by the Registrar or the Stock Exchange.
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(f)

If the WHITE Form of Acceptance is executed by a person other than the registered
Independent Shareholders, appropriate documentary evidence of authority to the
satisfaction of the Registrar must be produced.

(g)

No acknowledgement of receipt of any WHITE Form(s) of Acceptance, share
certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title (and/or any
satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) will be given.

(h)

The address of the Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, is
at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

Share Option Offer
(a)

If you accept the Share Option Offer, you should complete the YELLOW Form of
Acceptance which has been separately despatched to the holders of the Share Options
and which is obtainable from the head office and principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at 23rd Floor, Sunshine Plaza, 353 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong in accordance with the instructions printed thereon, which instructions form
part of the terms and conditions of the Share Option Offer.

(b)

The completed YELLOW Form of Acceptance shall be forwarded, together with the
relevant Share Option certificate(s) or the letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the
relevant Share Option (if any) for not less than the number of Share(s) exercisable
pursuant to the Share Option(s) in respect of which you intend to accept the Share
Option Offer, by ordinary post, by express mail or other similar carrier services or by
hand marked ‘‘Rojam Share Option Offer’’ on the envelope as soon as possible and in
any event so as to reach the company secretary of the Company at the head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 23rd Floor, Sunshine
Plaza, 353 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing
Date or such later time and/or date as the Offeror may determine and announce with the
consent of the Executive in accordance with the Takeovers Code.

(c)

No acknowledgement of receipt of any YELLOW Form of Acceptance and/or Share
Option certificate(s) or the letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share
Option will be given.

(d)

If the Share Option Offer is withdrawn or lapses, the Offeror shall, as soon as possible
but in any event within 10 days thereof, return by hand or by ordinary post the Share
Option certificate(s) or the letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share
Option (if any) lodged with the YELLOW Form of Acceptance to the holders of the
Share Option.

(e)

No stamp duty will be deducted from the amount paid to the holders of the Share
Options who accept the Share Option Offer.

– 53 –

APPENDIX I
2.

FURTHER TERMS OF THE OFFERS

ACCEPTANCE PERIOD AND REVISIONS

Unless the Offers have previously been revised or extended with the consent of the Executive, all
Forms of Acceptance must be received by the Registrar or the company secretary of the Company (as
the case may be) by 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date in accordance with the instructions printed thereon.
If any of the Offers is extended or revised, the announcement of such extension or revision will
state the next Closing Date and the relevant Offers will remain open for acceptance for a period of not
less than 14 days from the posting of the written notification and/or announcement of the extension or
revision to the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options and, unless previously
extended or revised, shall be closed on the subsequent Closing Date. If the Offeror revises the terms of
the Offers, all the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options whether or not they
have already accepted the Share Offer and the Share Option Offer (as the case may be), will be entitled
to accept the revised Offers under the revised terms.
If the Closing Date is extended, any reference in this Composite Document and in the Form(s) of
Acceptance to the Closing Date shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be deemed to refer to
the Closing Date of the Offers as so extended.
3.

ANNOUNCEMENTS
(a)

By 6:00 p.m. (or such later time and/or date as the Executive agrees) on the Closing Date,
the Offeror must inform the Executive and the Stock Exchange of its intention in relation to
the revision, extension or expiry of the Offers. The Offeror must publish an announcement on
the Stock Exchange’s website no later than 7:00 p.m. on the Closing Date stating whether the
Offers have been revised, extended or expired.
The announcement must state the following:
(i)

the total number of Shares and rights over Shares for which acceptances of the Share
Offer and the Share Option Offer have been respectively received;

(ii)

the total number of Shares and rights over Shares held, controlled or directed by the
Offeror or the parties acting in concert with it before the Offer Period; and

(iii) the total number of Shares and rights over Shares acquired or agreed to be acquired
during the Offer Period by the Offeror or the parties acting in concert with it.
The announcement must include details of any relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to
Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) in the Company which the Offeror or any parties acting in
concert with it has borrowed or lent, save for any borrowed Shares which have been either
on-lent or sold.
The announcement must also specify the percentages of the relevant classes of share capital
of the Company and the percentages of voting rights of the Company represented by these
numbers.
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(b)

In computing the total number of Shares and the underlying Shares which may fall to be
allotted and issued upon exercise of the Share Options represented by acceptances, only valid
acceptances that are in all respects complete and in good order and which have been received
by the Registrar (as regards the Share Offer) or the company secretary of the Company (as
regards the Share Option Offer) no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date shall be
included.

(c)

As required under the Takeovers Code and the GEM Listing Rules, any announcement in
relation to the Offers, in respect of which the Executive and the Stock Exchange have
confirmed that they have no further comments thereon, will be published on the GEM
website (www.hkgem.com) and the website of the Company (http://www.rojam.com).

RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL
(a)

Acceptance of the Offers tendered by the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the
Share Options or by their respective agent(s) on their respective behalf shall be irrevocable
and cannot be withdrawn, except in the circumstances set out in sub-paragraph (b) below.

(b)

If the Offeror is unable to comply with the requirements set out in the paragraph headed
‘‘Announcements’’ above, the Executive may require that the Independent Shareholders and
the holders of the Share Options who have tendered acceptances to the Offers be granted a
right of withdrawal on terms that are acceptable to the Executive until the requirements set
out in that paragraph are met.

In such case, when the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options withdraw
the acceptance, the Offeror will, as soon as possible but in any event within 10 days thereof, return by
ordinary post the share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or any other documents of title (and/or
any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities required in respect thereof) in respect of the Shares, the Share
Option certificate(s) or the letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share Option (if any)
lodged together with the Form(s) of Acceptance to the Independent Shareholders and the holders of the
Share Options (as the case may be).
5.

SETTLEMENT
(a)

Provided that the Form(s) of Acceptance and/or the relevant share certificate(s) and/or
transfer receipt(s) and/or any other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or
indemnities required in respect thereof) and/or the Share Option certificate(s) or the letter(s)
of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share Option (if any) are complete and in good
order in all respects and have been received by the Registrar or the company secretary of the
Company (as the case may be) by no later than 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date for the
acceptance of the Offers, a cheque for the amount representing the cash consideration due to
each accepting Independent Shareholder in respect of the Shares tendered by him/her/it or
his/her/its agent(s) under the Share Offer less the relevant seller’s ad valorem and other stamp
duties payable by him/her/it in the case for tendered Shares or each accepting holder of the
Share Options in respect of the Share Option tendered by him/her/it or his/her/its agent(s)
under the Share Option Offer (as the case may be) will be despatched to each relevant
accepting Independent Shareholder and holder of the Share Options (as the case may be) by
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ordinary post at his/her/its own risk as soon as possible but in any event within 10 days from
the date of receipt of duly completed acceptances by the Registrar or the company secretary
of the Company (as the case may be).
(b)

Settlement of the consideration to which any of the Independent Shareholders and the holders
of the Share Options is entitled under the Offers will be implemented in full in accordance
with the terms of the Offers, without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim or other
analogous right to which the Offeror may otherwise be, or claim to be, entitled against such
Independent Shareholder and holder of the Share Options.
If the Offers are withdrawn with the consent of the Executive in accordance with the
Takeovers Code, the Offeror shall, as soon as possible but in any event within 10 days
thereof, return by ordinary post the Share certificate(s) and/or transfer receipt(s) and/or the
Share Option certificate(s) or the letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share
Option and/or any other document(s) of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or
indemnities required in respect thereof) in respect of the Shares or the Share Options (as the
case may be) lodged together with the relevant Form(s) of Acceptance to the relevant
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options (as the case may be) who
have tendered acceptances to the Offers.

6.

OVERSEAS INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS AND OVERSEAS SHARE OPTION
HOLDERS

The Offers will be made in respect of securities of a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and will be subject to the procedures and disclosure requirements under the relevant Hong Kong laws
and regulations, which may be different from other jurisdictions. The making of the Offers or the
acceptance thereof by persons not being a resident of Hong Kong or with a registered address in
jurisdictions outside Hong Kong may be affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdictions. The
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options (as the case may be) who are citizens,
residents or nationals of jurisdictions outside Hong Kong should make themselves familiar with and
observe any applicable legal requirements in their own jurisdictions.
It is the responsibility of any such persons who wish to accept the Offers to satisfy themselves as
to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in connection therewith, including the
obtaining of any governmental or other consent which may be required or the compliance with other
necessary formalities and the payment of any transfer or other taxes due in respect of such jurisdiction.
Any acceptance by any person will be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty from
such person to the Offeror that the local laws and requirements have been fully complied with. The
Independent Shareholders and the holders of the Share Options (as the case may be) should consult their
respective professional adviser if in doubt.
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GENERAL
(a)

All communications, notices, Form(s) of Acceptance, Share certificate(s), the Share Option
certificate(s) or letter(s) of grant of offer/acceptance of the relevant Share Option (if any),
transfer receipts, other documents of title (and/or any satisfactory indemnity or indemnities
required in respect thereof) and remittances to settle the consideration payable under the
Offers to be delivered by or sent to or from the Independent Shareholders and the holders of
the Share Options (as the case may be) will be delivered by or sent to or from them, or their
respective designated agents through post at their own risk, and none of the Company, the
Offeror, HSBC, Optima, Hercules Capital and the Registrar or any of their respective
directors or agents or other parties involved in the Offers accepts any liability for any loss in
postage or any other liabilities that may arise as a result thereof.

(b)

The provisions set out in the Form(s) of Acceptance form part of the terms of the Offers.

(c)

The accidental omission to despatch this Composite Document and/or the Form(s) of
Acceptance or any of them to any person to whom the Offers are made will not invalidate the
Offers in any way.

(d)

The Offers and all acceptances will be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of Hong Kong.

(e)

Due execution of the Form(s) of Acceptance will constitute an authority to any director of the
Offeror, HSBC or such person or persons as any of them may direct to complete and execute
any document on behalf of the person accepting the Share Offer and to do any other act that
may be necessary or expedient for the purposes of vesting in the Offeror or such person or
persons as it may direct the Shares, in respect of which such person has accepted the Share
Offer.

(f)

Acceptance of the Share Offer by any person or persons will be deemed to constitute a
warranty by such person or persons to the Offeror that the Share(s) acquired under the Share
Offer is/are sold by any such person or persons free from all third party rights, liens, claims,
charges, equities and encumbrances whatsoever and renounced together with all rights
accruing or attaching thereto including the right to receive all future dividends or other
distributions, if any, declared, paid or made on the Share(s) on or after the date on which
completion of such share transfer takes place.

(g)

Acceptance of the Share Option Offer by the holders of the Share Options will be deemed to
constitute a warranty by the holder of the Share Option Offer to the Offeror that the Share
Option(s) tendered for acceptance under the Share Option Offer is/are surrendered for
cancellation by such holder(s) free from all third party rights, liens, claims, charges, equities
and encumbrances whatsoever and renounced together with all rights accruing or attaching
thereto on or after the date of acceptance.

(h)

The Offeror does not intend to exercise any right which may be available to it to acquire
compulsorily any Shares and/or rights over Shares not acquired under the Offers after the
Offers have closed.
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(i)

References to the Offers in this Composite Document and in the Form(s) of Acceptance shall
include any extension and/or revision thereof.

(j)

The English text of this Composite Document and the Form(s) of Acceptance shall prevail
over their respective Chinese texts for the purpose of interpretation in case of inconsistency.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the audited financial information of the Group as extracted from its
annual reports for the three years ended 31 March 2009, 2010 and 2011 respectively. The independent
auditors of the Company did not issue any qualified opinion on the financial statements of the Group for
each of the three years ended 31 March 2011.
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

2009
HK$’000

9,592

1,914

2,714

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

(45,736)
268
—

(19,953)
101
2,932

(48,977)
1,155
—

Loss for the year

(45,468)

(16,920)

(47,822)

Loss attributable to owners of
the Company

(43,887)

(16,920)

(47,822)

Results for the year ended 31 March
(continuing operations and discontinued
operations)
Turnover

Loss from continuing and discontinued
operations per Share (Note)

HK(1.9) cents

HK(0.8) cents

HK(2.5) cents

Dividend

—

—

—

Dividend per Share

—

—

—

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities

47,719
(24,676)

56,756
(4,381)

38,292
(5,323)

Net assets

23,043

52,375

32,969

Non-controlling interest

(1,581)

—

—

Note:
Loss per Share represents basic loss per Share calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company for
each of the three years ended 31 March 2011 by the weighted average number of Shares in issue during each of the three
years ended 31 March 2011.
As the conversion of the Group’s convertible bonds and exercise of options for the year ended 31 March 2011 would be
anti-dilutive, no diluted loss per Share was presented for the year ended 31 March 2011. There were no diluted potential
ordinary shares for each of the two years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is the full text of the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2011 as extracted from the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2011.
Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Note

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

9,592

1,914

(7,927)

(1,206)

Continuing operations
6

Turnover
Cost of sales and services rendered

1,665

Gross profit
Other income
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

7

Loss from operations
Finance costs

9

106
(241)
(35,412)
(10,078)

166
(76)
(13,387)
(7,364)

(43,960)

(19,953)

(1,776)
(45,736)

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

10

Loss for the year from continuing operations

12

708

268
(45,468)

—
(19,953)
101
(19,852)

Discontinued operations
Gain for the year from discontinued operations

11

—

2,932

Loss for the year

(45,468)

(16,920)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Loss from continuing operations
Profit from discontinued operations

(43,887)
—

(19,852)
2,932

(43,887)

(16,920)

Loss attributable to owners of the Company
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Note
Non-controlling interests
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

(1,581)
—

—
—

(1,581)

—

(45,468)

(16,920)

Basic loss per share
Loss from continuing and discontinued operations

16

1.9 cents

0.8 cents

Loss from continuing operations

16

1.9 cents

0.9 cents
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Note
Loss for the year

2011
HK$’000
(45,468)

2010
HK$’000
(16,920)

Other comprehensive income net of tax:
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

577

47

Total comprehensive income for the year

(44,891)

(16,873)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(43,310)
(1,581)

(16,873)
—

(44,891)

– 62 –

(16,873)

APPENDIX II

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2011
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

1,466
—
4,560

377
—
7,040

6,026

7,417

4,822
16,422
20,449

38
5,835
43,466

41,693

49,339

—
2,946

2
3,620

2,946

3,622

Net current assets

38,747

45,717

Total assets less current liabilities

44,773

53,134

21,215
515

—
759

21,730

759

23,043

52,375

23,071
1,553

23,061
29,314

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

24,624

52,375

Non-controlling interests

(1,581)

TOTAL EQUITY

23,043

Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

17
18
19

Current assets
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Bank and cash balances

22
23

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables

24

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

25
26

NET ASSETS
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

27
28(a)
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2011
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

20

4

1

21
23

1,529
19,254
15,652

700
4,487
37,144

36,435

42,331

1,932

2,880

Net current assets

34,503

39,451

Total assets less current liabilities

34,507

39,452

21,215

—

13,292

39,452

23,071
(9,779)

23,061
16,391

13,292

39,452

Note
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Due from subsidiaries
Bank and cash balances

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds

25

NET ASSETS
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

27
28(b)

TOTAL EQUITY
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2011
Attributable to the owners of the Company

(note 27)
HK$’000

Contributed
surplus
(note 28
(c)(ii))
HK$’000

Total

Noncontrolling
interests

Total equity

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

192,611

2

—

—

—

—

4,782

(165,101)

32,294

675

32,969

—

—

—

—

—

—

47

(16,920)

(16,873)

—

(16,873)

38,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

(842)

37,158

—

37,158

(207,550)
—

—
—

207,550
(163,075)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
163,075

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(204)

—

(204)

(675)

(879)

(169,550)

—

44,475

—

—

—

(157)

145,313

20,081

(675)

19,406

23,061

2

44,475

—

—

—

4,625

(19,788)

52,375

—

52,375

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
8,197

577
—

(43,887)
—

(43,310)
8,197

(1,581)
—

(44,891)
8,197

10

224

—

—

—

(36)

—

—

198

—

198

—

—

—

—

2,500

—

—

—

2,500

—

2,500

Share
capital

At 1 April 2009

Total comprehensive income
for the year
Issue of shares on placement
(note 27 (a))
Capital reduction and transfer
(note 27(b)(i) and (iii))
Transfer (note 27(b)(iv))
Disposal of a subsidiary
(note 30)

Changes in equity for the year

At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010

Total comprehensive income for the
year
Share-based payments
Shares issued under share option
scheme (note 27(c))
Proceeds from issue of
share options (note 25(b))
Issue of convertible bonds
(note 25(a))

Capital Subscription
reserve right reserve
(note 28
(note 28
(c)(iii))
(c)(iv))
HK$’000
HK$’000

Share-based
payment
reserve
(note 28
(c)(v))
HK$’000

Foreign
currency
translation Accumulated
reserve
losses
(note 28
(c)(vi))
HK$’000
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
(note 28
(c)(i))
HK$’000

—

—

—

4,747

—

—

—

—

4,747

—

4,747

Transaction cost from issue of
convertible bonds

—

—

—

(83)

—

—

—

—

(83)

—

(83)

Changes in equity for the year

10

224

—

4,664

2,500

8,161

577

(43,887)

(27,751)

(1,581)

(29,332)

23,071

226

44,475

4,664

2,500

8,161

5,202

(63,675)

24,624

(1,581)

23,043

At 31 March 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2011

Note

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
— Continuing operations
— Discontinued operations

(45,736)
—

(19,953)
2,932

(45,736)

(17,021)

2,456
333
8,197
—
8
4,249
1,271
1,776
(57)

2,517
145
—
(2,932)
35
2,361
—
—
(113)

Operating loss before working capital changes
Increase in trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, accruals and other
payables

(27,503)

(15,008)

(19,706)

(2,470)

Net cash used in operating activities

(45,641)

(17,955)

—
57
(1,441)
(1,000)

(246)
113
(322)
—

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Depreciation
Share-based payments
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Allowance for trade and other receivables
Impairment on other intangible assets
Finance cost
Interest income

1,568

(477)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Disposal of a subsidiary
Interest received
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of other intangible assets
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

30

16
(2,368)
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Note

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue expenses paid
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option
scheme
Proceeds from issue of share options
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds
Interest paid
Deposit received from the subscriber of convertible
bonds
Net cash generated from financing activities
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

—
—
27(c)
25(b)
25(a)

198
2,500
22,500
(210)

38,000
(842)
—
—
—
—

—

2,500

24,988

39,658

(23,021)

21,248

4

24

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR

43,466

22,194

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR

20,449

43,466

20,449

43,466

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2011
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place of business is 23rd Floor, Sunshine
Plaza, 353 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the ‘‘Stock Exchange’’). The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the financial statements. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2011, the Group has no holding company or ultimate controlling party.
2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(‘‘HKFRSs’’) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2010. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(‘‘HKFRS’’); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘‘HKAS’’); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior years except as stated below.
Consolidation
HKAS 27 (Revised) ‘‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’’ contains the following requirements:
—

Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. The previous HKAS
27 requires excess losses to be allocated to the owners of the Company, except to the extent that the noncontrolling shareholders have a binding obligation and are able to make an additional investment to cover the
losses.

—

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company. The
previous HKAS 27 does not have specific requirements for such transactions.

—

When the disposal of a subsidiary results in a loss of control, the consideration of the sale and any investment
retained in that subsidiary are required to be measured at their fair values. The previous HKAS 27 does not
have specific requirements for such fair value measurements. The above requirements of HKAS 27 (Revised)
has been applied prospectively from 1 April 2010 and resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts
reported in the financial statements as follows:
2011
HK$’000
Decrease in loss attributable to owners of the Company
Increase in loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Decrease in loss per share (HK cents)
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2010
HK$’000
—
—
—
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. The
areas involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. Control is the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
has control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sales plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to
that subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
In the Company’s statement of financial position the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.
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Business combination

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of an acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods
in which the costs are incurred and the services are rendered. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.
In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.
If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, available-for-sale investment), the amount that was recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis as would be required if the previously held equity interest
were disposed of.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy (t)
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently reversed.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for
the purpose of impairment testing.
The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
(c)

Foreign currency transactions
(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘‘functional currency’’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.
(ii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:
—

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

—

Income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

—

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
(d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

20%–50%
20%–25%
30%
30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
(e)

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Intangible assets
(i)

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.
(ii)

Club debentures
Golf club debenture
The golf club debenture is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 35 years.
Farm club debenture
The farm club debenture has an indefinite useful life and is stated at cost less any impairment
losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is any indication that the club debenture has
suffered an impairment loss.

(iii)

Customer contracts

Customer contract represents the software licence contracts with telecommunication service providers
who possess Value-Added Telecommunication Operation Licenses to provide value- added telecommunication
services and have established cooperative arrangements with leading communications operators in the PRC.
The amount is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the software licensed of 5 years.
(g)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs when the operation is abandoned.
When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented in the consolidated income
statement, which comprises:

(h)

—

The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

—

The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the
disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
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derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
(i)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the receivables’
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition. The amount of the allowance is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods and recognised in profit or loss when an increase in the
receivables’ recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the receivables at the date the impairment is reversed shall not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
(j)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
(k)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
(l)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the bonds into a fixed number of equity instruments at a
fixed conversion price are regarded as compound instruments consist of a liability and an equity component. At the
date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the bonds into equity
of the Group, is included in equity as capital reserve. The liability component is carried as a liability at amortised
cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged
directly to equity.
(m)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(o)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

(p)

(i)

Licensing income generated from the licensing of content and technology for use in connection with
the provision of value-added telecommunication services is recognised on an accruals basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(ii)

Turnover including concert ticket income from entertainment events organised by the Group is
recognised when the events are completed.

(iii)

Net income from entertainment events organised by other co-investors is recognised when the events
are completed and in proportion as agreed with co-investors.

(iv)

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits
(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
(ii)

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic
salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
(iii)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
(q)

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees, directors and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and directors are measured at fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions.
Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the services received or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives the services and recognised as expenses.
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Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
(s)

Related parties
A party is related to the Group if:
(i)

directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence
over the Group; or has joint control over the Group;

(ii)

the party is an associate;

(iii)

the party is a joint venture;

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(v)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in
(iv) or (v); or

(vii)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.
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Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use are reviewed annually for
impairment and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and other
intangible assets except goodwill and receivables to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

the
the
the
the

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when material.
4.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
(a)

Useful life of other intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related amortisation charges for the Group’s other
intangible assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of other
intangible assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the amortisation charge where useful
lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
(b)

Impairment of other intangible assets

The Group assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication that the other
intangible assets may be impaired. If any indication exist, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of other
intangible assets. The Group measures the recoverable amount of the other intangible assets with reference to
their value in use. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the other intangible assets and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group makes impairment of receivables based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
The identification of impairment of receivables requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and impairment of receivables in the year in which such estimate has been changed.
5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
(a)

Foreign exchange risk

During the year, the Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances, trade and other receivables included in the statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.
The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
For outstanding trade and other receivables, the Group has significant concentration of credit risk as majority
of trade and other receivables are due from two major customers of the Group’s licensing of software business and an
agent of the Group’s entertainment business.
(i)

Due from two major customers of the Group’s licensing of software business

Pursuant to the contract between one of the subsidiary, AnyMusic Limited (‘‘AnyMusic’’) and these
customers, AnyMusic licenses its technology to these customers which they use in provision of value added
telecommunication services in the PRC. In return, AnyMusic is entitled to a specified percentage of the
revenue generated by these customers, which percentage is negotiated between the parties based on existing
market conditions when the contract is renewed annually.
Since there is no independent rating on these customers, the credit risk is controlled by assessing the
credit quality of these customers taking into account their repayment history, past experience and other
factors. Due to the current market situation and the deterioration of the operating environment, the directors
anticipate that the recoverability of the trade and other receivables of HK$4,249,000 (2010: HK$2,361,000)
from these customers is uncertain, as a result the directors determined to make an allowance of the same
amount for trade and other receivables.
(ii)

Due from an agent of the Group’s entertainment business

The Group has policies in place to ensure that agents of the Group have appropriate credit history. The
amount due from the agent is closely monitored by the directors.
(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank deposits and convertible bonds. Part of the bank
deposits bear interests at variable rates varied with the then prevailing market condition and expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk.
Other bank deposits and convertible bonds that bear fixed interest rate are subject to fair value interest rate
risk.
The Group’s result is not sensitive to changes in interest rate as the effect on the interest income generated
from bank deposits are insignificant.
(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group adopts a prudent liquidity risk management policy to maintain sufficient cash to fund its
operations.
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The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

(e)

(f)

Less than
1 year
HK$’000

Between 1
and 2 years
HK$’000

Between 2
and 5 years
HK$’000

Over
5 years
HK$’000

At 31 March 2011
Trade payables, accruals and other
payables
Convertible bonds

2,946
501

—
498

—
25,041

—
—

At 31 March 2010
Trade payables, accruals and other
payables

3,622

—

—

—

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Financial assets:
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)

26,455

47,800

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

24,161

1,122

Categories of financial instruments at 31 March 2011

Fair values

Except as disclosed in note 25(a) to the financial statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated and Company statements of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.
6.

TURNOVER

The Group’s turnover which represents licensing of software income and entertainment business income are as
follows:

Licensing of software income
Concert tickets income
Event management income
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2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

1,968
6,232
1,392

1,914
—
—

9,592

1,914
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OTHER INCOME
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

57
49
—

113
53
2,932

106

3,098

106
—

166
2,932

106

3,098

Interest income
Sundry income
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 30)

Representing:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations (note 11)

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a)

Business segment information
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has two reportable segments as follows:
Entertainment business

— Event organisation and provision of event management services.

Licensing of software
business

— Development and licensing of software and technology for use in connection
with the provision of value added telecommunication services in the PRC.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They
are managed separately because each business requires different technology and marketing strategies.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 3 to the financial
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include other income, selling expenses, certain administrative expenses,
other operating expenses and finance costs. Segment assets do not include property, plant and equipment, goodwill,
other intangible assets, bank and cash balances and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include
convertible bonds, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate liabilities.
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Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:
Licensing of
software
business
HK$’000

Entertainment
business
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2011
Revenue from external customers

1,968

7,624

9,592

Segment profit/(loss)

1,315

(3,213)

(1,898)

Other material items:
Amortisation of other intangible assets

2,438

—

2,438

Other material non-cash items:
Impairment on other intangible assets
Allowance for trade and other receivables

1,271
4,249

—
—

1,271
4,249

As at 31 March 2011
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

1,337
—

17,646
—

18,983
—

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group engaged in the single type business and has one reportable
segment. Information about the reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities is as follows:
Licensing of
software
business
HK$’000
Year ended 31 March 2010
Revenue from external customers

1,914

Segment profit

708

Other material items:
Amortisation of other intangible assets

2,500

Other material non-cash items:
Allowance for trade and other receivables

2,361

As at 31 March 2010
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

4,235
2
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Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities:
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Profit or loss
Total (loss)/profit of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts:
Other income
Finance costs
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses

106
(1,776)
(241)
(31,849)
(10,078)

166
—
(76)
(13,387)
(7,364)

Consolidated loss before tax for the year from continuing operations

(45,736)

(19,953)

18,983

4,235

1,466
4,560
20,449
2,261

377
7,040
43,466
1,638

47,719

56,756

(1,898)

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts:
Property, plant and equipment
Other intangible assets
Bank and cash balances
Other corporate assets
Consolidated total assets

708

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts:
Accruals and other payables
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

—

2

2,946
21,215
515

3,620
—
759

Consolidated total liabilities

24,676

4,381

Other material items — Amortisation of other intangible assets
Total amortisation charged of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts

2,438
18

2,500
17

Consolidated amortisation charge

2,456

2,517

Apart from the above, the totals of other material items disclosed in the segment information are the same as
the consolidated totals.
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Geographical information
Revenue

Hong Kong
Mainland China
Macau

Non-current assets

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

1,122
8,200
270

—
1,914
—

2,402
3,624
—

282
7,135
—

9,592

1,914

6,026

7,417

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the locations of the customers.
(c)

9.

Information about major customers
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Licensing of software business
Customer A
Customer B

1,968
—

1,876
38

Entertainment business
Customer C

1,122

—

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

1,776

—

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on convertible bonds wholly repayable within five years

– 83 –

APPENDIX II
10.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Current tax
Provision for the year
Deferred tax (note 26)

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

—
268

—
101

268

101

No provision for Hong Kong or overseas profits tax is required since the Group has no assessable profit for the year
(2010: Nil).
The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong
Profits Tax rate is as follows:
2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Loss before income tax

45,736

17,021

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5%
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries
Income not subject to taxation
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes
Tax losses not recognised

7,546
(258)
1,074
(4,533)
(3,561)

2,808
(237)
480
(1,999)
(951)

Income tax credit
11.

268

101

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
During the financial year ended 31 March 2009, the Group ceased its discotheque business on 28 July 2008.
(a)

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 from the discontinued operation is analysed as follows:
HK$’000
Profit of discontinued operations
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation (note 30)

—
2,932
2,932

(b)

An analysis of the cash flows from the discontinued operations for the year ended 31 March 2010 is as
follows:
HK$’000
—
(246)
—

Operating cash flows
Investing cash flows
Financing cash flows

(246)
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LOSS FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:

Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in
other operating expenses)
Depreciation
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Operating lease charges on land and buildings
Auditor’s remuneration
Other equity-settled share-based payment
Impairment on other intangible assets (included in
other operating expenses)
Allowance for trade and other receivables (included in
other operating expenses)
Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments
Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
Equity-settled share-based payments

13.

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

2,456
333
8
1,671
680
3,270

2,517
145
35
961
600
—

1,271

—

4,249

2,361

6,352
128
2,759

3,137
133
—

9,239

3,270

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2011

Retirement
Equitybenefit
settled
scheme
share-based
payments contributions
HK$’000
HK$’000

Fees
HK$’000

Salaries
and
allowances
HK$’000

—
—
—

522
522
993

817
817
206

12
12
12

1,351
1,351
1,211

—

2,037

1,840

36

3,913

120
120
120
116

—
—
—
—

82
82
82
82

—
—
—
—

202
202
202
198

476

—

328

—

804

476

2,037

2,168

36

4,717

Total
HK$’000

Executive Directors
Chan Chi Ming, Alvin (note (a))
Luk Hong Man, Hammond (note (a))
Etsuko Hoshiyama

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Chan Chi Yuen (note (c))
Zhang Xi (note (a))
Yeung Wai Hung, Peter (note (d))
Wong Kam Choi (note (e))

Total for 2011
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Year ended 31 March 2010

EquityRetirement
settled
benefit
share-based
scheme
payments contributions
HK$’000
HK$’000

Fees
HK$’000

Salaries
and
allowances
HK$’000

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

320
320
1,030
—
619
—
895
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

7
7
12
—
—
—
—
—

327
327
1,042
—
619
—
895
—

—

3,184

—

26

3,210

48
56
49
30
30
30

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

48
56
49
30
30
30

243

—

—

—

243

243

3,184

—

26

3,453

Total
HK$’000

Executive Directors
Chan Chi Ming, Alvin (note (a))
Luk Hong Man, Hammond (note (a))
Etsuko Hoshiyama
Takeyasu Hashizume (note (b))
Etsuro Tojo (note (b))
Hiroshige Tonomura (note (b))
Wang Kefei (note (b))
Hidenori Nakai (note(b))

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Chan Chi Yuen (note (c))
Zhang Xi (note (a))
Yeung Wai Hung, Peter (note (d))
Seiichi Nakaoda (note (f))
Kwong Pui Kei (note (f))
Chan Hing Keung, Wilson (note (f))

Total for 2010
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Appointed on 1 September 2009
Resigned on 29 September 2009
Appointed on 30 September 2009
Appointed on 5 November 2009
Appointed on 14 April 2010
Resigned on 30 September 2009

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included two (2010: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2010: two) individuals
are set out below:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension costs — defined contribution plans
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HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

4,309
15

880
23

4,324

903
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The emoluments fell within the following bands:
Number of individuals
2011
2010
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Nil
2
1

2
Nil
Nil

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
14.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company included a loss of approximately HK$41,719,000 (2010:
HK$33,090,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.
15.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend (2010: Nil) in respect of the year.

16.

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company by the weighed average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2011
Continuing operations
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

(43,887)

2010

(19,852)

2,306,229

2,085,402

(1.9 cents)

(0.9 cents)

Discontinued operations
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000)

N/A

2,932

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)

N/A

2,085,402

Basic earning per share (HK cents per share)

N/A

0.1 cents

Basic loss per share (HK cents per share)

Total
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)
Basic loss per share (HK cents per share)

(43,887)

(16,920)

2,306,229

2,085,402

(1.9 cents)

(0.8 cents)

As the conversion of the Group’s outstanding convertible bonds and exercise of options for the year ended 31 March
2011 would be anti-dilutive, no diluted loss per share was presented for year ended 31 March 2011. There were no diluted
potential ordinary shares for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Leasehold
improvement
HK$’000

Office
equipment,
furniture
and fixtures
HK$’000

Computer
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Cost
48
—
(48)
—

188
170
(164)
—

604
152
(247)
1

—
—
—
—

840
322
(459)
1

At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences

—
—
—
—

194
38
—
1

510
79
(150)
14

—
1,324
—
—

704
1,441
(150)
15

At 31 March 2011

—

233

453

1,324

2,010

26
18
(44)
—

183
10
(164)
—

396
117
(216)
1

—
—
—
—

605
145
(424)
1

At 31 March 2010 and
1 April 2010
Charge for the year
Disposals
Exchange differences

—
—
—
—

29
41
—
1

298
60
(126)
9

—
232
—
—

327
333
(126)
10

At 31 March 2011

—

71

241

232

544

At 31 March 2011

—

162

212

1,092

1,466

At 31 March 2010

—

165

212

—

377

At 1 April 2009
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2009
Charge for the year
Disposals
Exchange differences

Carrying amount
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GOODWILL
Group
HK’000
Cost
At 1 April 2009
Disposed of a subsidiary (note 30)
Exchange differences

42,039
(24,086)
60

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Exchange differences

18,013
806

At 31 March 2011

18,819

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 April 2009
Disposed of a subsidiary (note 30(b))
Exchange differences

42,039
(24,086)
60

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Exchange differences

18,013
806

At 31 March 2011

18,819

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2011

—

At 31 March 2010

—

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (‘‘CGUs’’) that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of
goodwill had been allocated as follows:

Licensing of software segment
— AnyMusic

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

18,819

18,013

The goodwill allocated to the licensing of software segment has been fully impaired during the year ended 31 March
2009.
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
Computer
software
HK$’000

Club
debentures
HK$’000

Customer
contracts
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 1 April 2009
Exchange differences

37
1

574
1

18,411
61

19,022
63

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Additions
Exchange differences

38
—
1

575
1,000
26

18,472
—
828

19,085
1,000
855

At 31 March 2011

39

1,601

19,300

20,940

At 1 April 2009
Amortisation for the year
Exchange differences

2
1
—

24
16
—

9,465
2,500
37

9,491
2,517
37

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Amortisation for the year
Impairment losses
Exchange differences

3
1
—
—

40
17
—
4

12,002
2,438
1,271
604

12,045
2,456
1,271
608

4

61

16,315

16,380

At 31 March 2011

35

1,540

2,985

4,560

At 31 March 2010

35

535

6,470

7,040

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
loss

At 31 March 2011
Carrying amount

Computer software
Computer software represents acquired computer software licenses that are used in the operation of provision
of value-added telecommunication services. As at 31 March 2011, the computer software has a remaining
amortisation period of 3 years.
Club debentures
(a)

The Group’s golf club membership of HK$540,000 (2010: HK$535,000) at 31 March 2011 has definite useful
life and has a remaining amortisation period of 30 years.

(b)

The Group’s farm club membership of HK$1,000,000 (2010: Nil) at 31 March 2011 has indefinite useful life
because there is no time limit that the Group can enjoy the services provided by the farm club.
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of the farm club membership by reference to the
recent transaction price of the farm club membership. No impairment loss has been recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2011.
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Customer contracts
Customer contracts represent the software licence contracts with telecommunication service providers who
possess Value-Added Telecommunication Operation Licenses to provide value-added telecommunication services and
have established cooperative arrangements with leading communications operators in the PRC. As at 31 March 2011,
the customer contracts have a remaining amortisation period of 1.6 years.
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of the customer contracts in 2011, having regard to
the market conditions of the Group’s software. The customer contracts are used in the Group’s licensing of software
segment. The reviews led to the recognition of an impairment loss of HK$1,271,000 for customer contracts which
has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2011. The recoverable amount of the customer
contracts has been determined on the basis of its value in use. The discount rate used in measuring the value in use
was 16.67%.
20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2011
2010
HK$’000
HK$’000
Unlisted investments, at cost
Less: Impairment losses

81,489
(81,485)

81,486
(81,485)

4
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011 are as follows:
Percentage of
ownership interest/
voting power/profit
sharing
Direct
Indirect

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

Rojam Entertainment Limited

Hong Kong

100,001 ordinary
shares of HK$1
each

100%

—

Intellectual property holding,
provision of general
administration and
management services to
Group companies in Hong
Kong and the PRC and
entertainment business

Rojam Capital Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

100%

—

Investment holding

Oriental Brand Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

100%

—

Dormant

Floral Star Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

100%

—

Investment holding

Crystal Wonder Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

100%

—

Investment holding

Everwell Global Trading Limited British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

100%

—

Investment holding

Issued and
paid up capital
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Percentage of
ownership interest/
voting power/profit
sharing
Direct
Indirect

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

AnyMusic Limited

PRC

Registered capital of
US$5,140,000

—

100%

Engaged in the development and
licensing of software and
technology for use in
connection with the provision
of value-added
telecommunication services in
the PRC and business
information consulting
services

Dynasty Choice Development
Limited

Hong Kong

100 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

—

100%

Dormant

Forest Garden Limited

Hong Kong

100 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

—

100%

Dormant

Sharp Way Trading Limited

Hong Kong

100 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

—

100%

Dormant

Xinhua Entertainment Limited

British Virgin
Islands

1 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

—

100%

Investment holding

Xinhua Entertainment (Hong
Kong) Limited

Hong Kong

10 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

—

80%

Entertainment business

Zhenrong Energy Shipping
Limited

British Virgin
Islands

100 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

—

75%

Dormant

100 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

—

75%

Dormant

Zhenrong Energy Shipping (HK) Hong Kong
Limited

Issued and
paid up capital

Principal activities

AnyMusic Limited is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC.
The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.
21.

DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

22.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers and agents are mainly on credit, the credit term is generally range from
30 to 60 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the directors.
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The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice dates, and net of allowance, is as follows:

Group
2011
HK$’000
0 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
181 to 365 days

2010
HK$’000

3,941
466
415
—

—
—
7
31

4,822

38

As at 31 March 2011, an allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately
HK$3,918,000 (2010: HK$4,820,000). The reconciliation of the allowance for trade receivables is as follows:
2011
HK$’000
At beginning of year
Allowance for the year
Reversal of allowance
Exchange differences
At end of year

2010
HK$’000

4,820
40
(1,129)
187

4,040
765
—
15

3,918

4,820

As of 31 March 2011, trade receivables of HK$4,283,000 (2010: HK$38,000) were past due but not impaired. The
ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not impaired is as follows:
Group
2011
HK$’000
Up to 3 months
3 to 6 months
Over 6 months

2010
HK$’000

3,868
415
—

—
7
31

4,283

38

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars
Renminbi
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—
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BANK AND CASH BALANCES
As at 31 March 2011, bank and cash balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:
Group
2011
HK$’000
Hong Kong dollars
Renminbi
US dollars
Japanese Yen

2010
HK$’000

13,774
2,036
4,519
120

33,284
5,692
4,383
107

20,449

43,466

Company
2011
2010
HK$’000
HK$’000
Hong Kong dollars
US dollars
Japanese Yen

11,692
3,849
111

32,664
4,379
101

15,652

37,144

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
24.

TRADE PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

0 to 90 days
91 to 180 days

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

—
—

—
2

—

2

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in Renminbi.
25.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(a)

The convertible bonds were issued to the bondholder on 30 April 2010. The bonds are convertible into
ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and their settlement date.
The bonds were convertible at 20 shares per HK$1 bond note.
If the convertible bonds have not been converted, they will be redeemed at par on 29 April 2013. Annual
interest of 2% will be paid half annually up until that settlement date.
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The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible bonds have been split between the liability
element and an equity component, as follows:
Group and
Company
2011
HK$’000
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued
Transaction cost
Equity component

25,000
(355)
(4,747)

Liability component at date of issue
Interest charged
Interest paid or payable

19,898
1,776
(459)

Liability component at 31 March 2011

21,215

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds:
Nominal value of convertible bonds issued
Deposit received from the bondholder for the year ended 31 March 2010

25,000
(2,500)
22,500

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 9.4% to the liability
component for the 11 months period since the bonds were issued.
The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component of the convertible bonds at 31 March 2011 to
be approximately HK$21,593,000. This fair value has been calculated by discounting the future cash flows at
the market rate.
(b)

On 30 April 2010, the Company has granted to the bondholder options to subscribe for 250,000,000 option
shares in the Company at option price of HK$0.05 per option share, exercisable for a period of three years
from the date of issue.
The consideration of the option fee of HK$2,500,000 received was recognised in equity as subscription right
reserve.
No option shares have been exercised by the bondholder during the year ended 31 March 2011.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group.
Accelerated
tax
depreciation
HK$’000

Other
intangible
assets
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

—
—
—

857
3
(101)

857
3
(101)

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Exchange differences
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss for the year (note 10)

—
—
149

759
24
(417)

759
24
(268)

At 31 March 2011

149

366

515

At 1 April 2009
Exchange differences
(Credit) to profit or loss for the year (note 10)

At the end of reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of HK$55,333,000 (2010: HK$33,749,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such losses (2010: Nil) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$870,000, HK$642,000,
HK$1,595,000 and HK$1,870,000 (2010: HK$870,000, HK$642,000, HK$1,595,000 and Nil) that will expire in 2012,
2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
27.

SHARE CAPITAL
Number of
Shares
Note
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009
Subdivision of shares

5,000,000,000
45,000,000,000

500,000
—

50,000,000,000

500,000

(a)
(b)(i)

1,926,114,403
380,000,000
—

192,611
38,000
(207,550)

(c)

2,306,114,403
1,000,000

23,061
10

2,307,114,403

23,071

(b)(ii)

At 31 March 2010 and 2011
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009
Issue of shares on placement
Reduction of the issued share capital
At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Shares issued under share option scheme
At 31 March 2011

Amount
HK$’000

Notes:
(a)

On 5 October 2009, the Company and the placing agent — Kingston Securities Limited entered into a
conditional placing agreement in respect of the placement of 380,000,000 shares to independent investors at a
price of HK$0.10 per share. The placement was completed on 30 October 2009 and the transaction costs
attributable to the placement of approximately HK$842,000 were debited to the Company’s accumulated losses
account in equity.
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The special resolution in relation to the capital reorganisation of the Company was passed by the Company’s
shareholders on 19 November 2009 (the ‘‘Capital Reorganisation’’) and the Capital Reorganisation became
effective on 22 December 2009.
Pursuant to the Capital Reorganisation, the capital of the Company is reorganised in the following manner:

(c)

(i)

reduction of the issued share capital of the Company through reducing the par value of each of the
issued shares from HK$0.10 each to HK$0.01 each by cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company to
the extent of HK$0.09 on each of the issued shares;

(ii)

subdivision of each authorised but unissued share of HK$0.10 into 10 new shares of HK$0.01 each;

(iii)

the transfer of the credit of HK$207,550,000 arising from the capital reduction mentioned in note
27(b)(i) to the contributed surplus account of the Company; and

(iv)

the utilisation of the credits standing to the contributed surplus account of the Company to offset the
accumulated losses of the Company of HK$163,075,000 in full on the date the Capital Reorganisation
becoming effective.

On 18 February 2011, share options granted under the share option scheme of the Company which was
adopted on 19 November 2009 were exercised to subscribe for 1,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a
consideration of HK$198,000 of which HK$10,000 was credit to share capital and the balance of HK$188,000
was credited to the share premium account. HK$36,000 has been transferred from the share-based payment
reserve to the share premium account.
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of
dividends, return capital to shareholders and issue new shares, raise new debts and redeem existing debts.
The Group monitors capital by maintaining a net cash position throughout the year.
The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to maintain sufficient public float required under the GEM Listing Rules (minimum
prescribed percentage applicable to the Company is currently 18.2%). The Group receives a report from the
share registrars monthly on substantial share interests showing the non-public float and it demonstrates
continuing compliance with the 18.2% limit throughout the year. As at 31 March 2011, 75.62% (2010:
75.61%) of the shares were in public hands.

28.

RESERVES
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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Company
Share
premium Contribution
account
surplus
HK$’000
HK$’000
At 1 April 2009
Issue of shares on
placement (note 27(a))
Capital reduction and
transfer (note 27(b)(i)
and (iii))
Transfer (note 27(b)(iv))
Loss for the year
At 31 March 2010
Share-based payment
Share issued under share
option scheme
(note 27(c))
Proceeds from issue of
share options
(note 25(b))
Issue of convertible bonds
(note 25(a))
Transaction cost from issue
of convertible bonds
Loss for the year
At 31 March 2011

(c)

Capital Subscription
reserve right reserve
HK$’000
HK$’000

Share-based
payment Accumulated
reserve
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

2

—

—

—

—

(157,229)

(157,227)

—

—

—

—

—

(842)

(842)

—
—
—

207,550
(163,075)
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
163,075
(33,090)

207,550
—
(33,090)

2
—

44,475
—

—
—

—
—

—
8,197

(28,086)
—

16,391
8,197

224

—

—

—

(36)

—

188

—

—

—

2,500

—

—

2,500

—

—

4,747

—

—

—

4,747

—
—

—
—

(83)
—

—
—

—
—

—
(41,719)

(83)
(41,719)

226

44,475

4,664

2,500

8,161

(69,805)

(9,779)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)

Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a price in excess of their par
value per share. The application of the share premium account is governed by the Bermuda Companies Act.
(ii)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the net effect of the capital reduction and the elimination of
accumulated losses of the Company as a result of the Capital Reorganisation of the Company as described in
note 27(b).
Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:
—

it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

—

the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts.

– 98 –

APPENDIX II
(iii)

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP
Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the value of the unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in
note 3(l) to the financial statements.
(iv)

Subscription right reserve

Subscription right reserve represents the net proceed received from the issue of option shares. The
subscription right reserve will be transferred to share premium account upon the exercise of the option shares.
(v)

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors, employees and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy in note 3(q) to the financial statements.
(vi)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3(c) to the financial statements.
29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme
The Company operates a share option scheme (the ‘‘Share Option Scheme’’) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the development and growth of the Group and are
invited at director’s discretion. Eligible participants include full-time and part-time employees, executive directors,
non-executive directors, suppliers, customers, advisors, consultants, agents, contractors, and shareholders of any
member of the Company. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 19 November 2009 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at 19 November
2009. The Company might seek approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting for refreshing the 10%
limit under the Share Option Scheme save that the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme under the limit as refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of approval of the limit. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant (including both exercised and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval at a general meeting with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.
Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance at a general meeting.
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The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later
than ten years from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Share Option Scheme, if
earlier.
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the highest
of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer.
The share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
Details of the share options granted during the year is as follows:
Date of grant

Vesting period

Exercise period

15 November 2010

Nil

15 November 2010 –
14 November 2020

Exercise price
HK$0.198

If the share options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the share options
expire. The share options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the share options vest.
The following table discloses details of the share options outstanding and the movements during the year
ended 31 March 2011 under the Share Option Scheme:
Number of shares options

Name of grantee

Date of grant

Total of directors
Employees in aggregate
Consultants

15 November 2010
15 November 2010
15 November 2010

Lapsed or
Outstanding
forfeited
as at
during
the year 31 March 2011

Outstanding
as at
1 April 2010

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

—
—
—

61,000,000
77,600,000
92,000,000

—
(1,000,000)
—

—
—
—

61,000,000
76,600,000
92,000,000

—

230,600,000

(1,000,000)

—

229,600,000

Total

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
2011
Number
of share
options

2010
Weighted
average
exercise
price
HK$

Number
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price
HK$

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year

—
230,600,000
(1,000,000)

—
0.198
0.198

—
—
—

—
—
—

Outstanding at the end of the year

229,600,000

0.198

—

—

Exercisable at the end of the year

229,600,000

0.198

—

—
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The share options granted to consultants were incentives for their services to assist the Group expanding its
business network and exploring new business opportunities. The fair values of such benefit could not be measured
reliably and as a result, fair values of share options are measured by reference to the fair values at the measurement
dates.
The share options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 10
years and the exercise prices is HK$0.198. During the year ended 31 March 2011, the share options were granted on
15 November 2010. The estimated fair values of the share options granted on this date is HK$8,197,000.
These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model are as
follows:
2011
Weighted average share price
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield

0.198
0.198
65.35%
0.581
0.295%
Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price for a
period equal to the expected life of the share options. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based
on the Group’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.
30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Disposal of a subsidiary — Shanghai Rojam Entertainment Company Limited (‘‘Shanghai Rojam’’)
On 16 November 2009, Rojam Investment Limited (‘‘Rojam Investment’’), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party (the ‘‘Purchaser’’) wherein
Rojam Investment agreed to dispose of its entire 90% equity interests in Shanghai Rojam at a consideration of
RMB36,000 (approximately HK$40,734) to the Purchaser.
At the date of disposal and as at 31 March 2010, the legal ownership of the equity interests in Shanghai
Rojam has not yet been fully transferred to the Purchaser. Rojam Investment has entered a contractual arrangement
with the Purchaser so that the decision-making rights, operating and financial activities of Shanghai Rojam become
effectively controlled by the Purchaser on 16 November 2009. The Purchaser is also entitled to the entire 90% of the
operating results generated by Shanghai Rojam since the date of disposal under the arrangement. Based on the above,
the directors consider that the Group ceased control in Shanghai Rojam and the Group’s interest have been disposed
of on 16 November 2009.
Rojam Investment was disposed by the Company on 23 November 2010.
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The net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:
HK$’000
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Bank and cash balances
Accruals and other payables

568
287
(2,867)

Net liabilities disposed of
Release of foreign currency translation reserve
Non-controlling interests
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

(2,012)
(204)
(675)
2,932

Total consideration — satisfied by cash

41

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

41
(287)
(246)

31.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2011, the Group and the Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2010: Nil).

32.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2011 the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

Group
2011
HK$’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years

2010
HK$’000

806
—
—

581
—
—

806

581

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for
an average term of 1 year and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.
33.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group
had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:
(a)

On 5 August 2009, Yoshimoto Fandango Co., Ltd. (‘‘Fandango’’, a company incorporated in Japan) and Faith,
Inc. (‘‘Faith’’, a company incorporated in Japan), the then Company’s substantial shareholders, entered into a
conditional agreement with Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited in relation to the sale and purchases of shares in
the Company. The transaction was completed on 21 August 2009 (the ‘‘Completion Date’’). As a result and
upon the completion of the transaction, Fandango and Faith ceased to be the Company’s substantial
shareholders.
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(b)

Note

34.

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

The then Company’s substantial shareholder
Faith, Inc.
— reimbursement of operating expense

(i)

—

703

Non-controlling shareholder of former subsidiary
— Shanghai Rojam
Shanghai Huanyu Import and Export Company Limited
— management fee paid

(ii)

—

500

(i)

Reimbursement of operating expenses is recharged on an actual basis. The amount shown represents the
reimbursement up to the Completion Date.

(ii)

On 18 September 2002, the Group entered into a Chinese-foreign cooperative joint venture contract
with the non-controlling shareholder of Shanghai Rojam. By virtue of the said contract, the noncontrolling shareholder has agreed to accept a pre-fixed amount as its return on investment and services
rendered, whereas the Group will be entitled to/responsible for any or all operating profit or loss. The
pre-fixed amount paid or payable to the non-controlling shareholder is recognised as management fee
paid or payable to the non-controlling shareholder in the consolidated income statement.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a)

Subscription agreement (the ‘‘Subscription Agreement’’) to issue new shares and convertible notes

On 23 March 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with the share subscribers and
convertible notes subscribers pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each share
subscriber, and each share subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the shares of the Company; and (ii)
the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each convertible notes subscriber, and each convertible notes
subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the convertible notes. The total shares of the Company to be
subscribed by the share subscribers comprise 6,918,343,209 shares, representing approximately 299.9% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2011.
The total subscription price payable for the subscription of the shares of the Company is HK$118,613,358 and
the principal amount payable for the subscription of the convertible notes is HK$596,260,579.
The Subscription Agreement was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 12 May 2011. Details of the Subscription Agreement are set out in the circular of the Company dated 21
April 2011. At 13 May 2011, the Subscription Agreement is yet to be completed.
(b)

Conversion of convertible bonds

On 18 April 2011, the Company issued 500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at the price of HK$0.05
per share upon the conversion of convertible bonds with nominal value of HK$25,000,000.
(c)

Exercise of share options granted to the bondholder on 30 April 2010

On 5 May 2011, the Company issued 250,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at the price of HK$0.05
per share upon exercise of share options by the bondholder.
(d)

Exercise of share options under the Company’s equity-settled share option scheme

Subsequent to the end of reporting period and up to the date of this report, a total of 27,800,000 share options
have been exercised by the share option holders which resulted in the allotment and issue of 27,800,000 new shares
of the Company.
35.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2011.
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INDEBTEDNESS

As at the close of business on 31 March 2011, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining the indebtedness of the Group prior to the printing of this Offer Document, the Group had
total outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$25,249,000, representing the Fully Converted
Convertible Bond with an outstanding principal amount of HK$25,000,000 and interest of HK$249,000
payable to the holder of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond.
Save as aforesaid and apart from intra-group liabilities and normal trade payables in the ordinary
course of the business, as at the close of business on 31 March 2011, the Group did not have other
outstanding mortgages, charges, debentures or other loan capital, bank overdrafts or loans, other similar
indebtedness, finance lease or hire purchase commitments, liabilities under acceptance or acceptance
credits, guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.
The Directors confirm that, save as disclosed above and the issue of the First Completion
Convertible Notes upon the First Completion, there has not been any material change in the
indebtedness or contingent liabilities of the Group since 31 March 2011 up to the Latest Practicable
Date.
4.

MATERIAL CHANGE

On 23 March 2011, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with the Subscribers
pursuant to which (i) the Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each Share Subscriber, and each
Share Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Subscription Shares; and (ii) the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue to each CN Subscriber, and each CN Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Convertible Notes, details of which were set out in the
Composite Document. The First Completion took place on 9 June 2011 and the Company issued
6,918,343,209 Subscription Shares and the First Completion Convertible Notes pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement.
On 28 April 2011, the Company issued 500,000,000 Shares at HK$0.05 per Share upon full
conversion of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond. On 5 May 2011, the Company issued 250,000,000
Shares at HK$0.05 per Share upon full exercise of the Option. Subsequent to 31 March 2011 and up to
the Latest Practicable Date, the Company issued a total of 62,800,000 Shares upon exercise of the Share
Options by their holders.
To build up its media and entertainment businesses in the PRC and Macau markets, the Group
entered into contracts with a main artiste and a production company in April 2011 and May 2011
respectively for the production of a movie targeting viewers in the PRC. In early June 2011, the
Company entered into an agreement with a film director in Hong Kong which calls for the film director
to undertake the directorship of five films to be produced by the Group in a five-year period.
Furthermore, a contract was entered into between the Company and an independent animated cartoon
production company in May 2011 to produce a series of television drama of computer graphics
animation with over 100 episodes of animated features targeting the children market in the PRC. As at
the Latest Practicable Date, the contracts entered into by the Company represent an aggregate
commitment of approximately HK$103.5 million.
Save as the aforementioned, the Directors confirmed that as at the Latest Practicable Date, there
have been no material change in the financial or trading position or outlook of the Group subsequent to
31 March 2011, being the date to which the latest published audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group were made up.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The information in this Composite Document in relation to the Group has been supplied by the
Directors who jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information (other
than those in relation to the Offeror and the other Subscribers, the terms and conditions of the Offers
and the intention of the Offeror and eSun regarding the future of the Group) contained in this Composite
Document, and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge,
opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those expressed by the Offeror and the other
Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement in this
Composite Document misleading.
This Composite Document for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this Composite
Document is accurate and complete in all material respects and is not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this Composite
Document misleading.
The directors of the Offeror jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and all the
other Subscribers) and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge, opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those expressed by the Group
and all the other Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no
other facts not contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement
in this Composite Document misleading.
The directors of eSun jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information, contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and all the
Subscribers except the Offeror) and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of
their knowledge, opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those expressed by the
Group and all the Subscribers except the Offeror) have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this Composite Document, the omission of
which would make any statement in this Composite Document misleading, save that Mr. Albert Thomas
da Rosa, Junior, a non-executive director of eSun who is also a partner in charge of the legal services
provided by a firm of solicitors acting for the Company in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Subscription Agreement, does not take responsibility in respect of this Composite Document
relating to eSun due to conflict of interest reasons.
The sole director of Sun Great, Mr. Tse On Kin, accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) and confirms having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of his knowledge,
opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement contained in
this Composite Document misleading.
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The sole director of On Chance, Mr. Zhou Xin, accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) and confirms having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of his knowledge,
opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement contained in
this Composite Document misleading.
The sole director of Grace Promise, Mr. Choi Chiu Fai Stanley, accepts full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the
Group and the other Subscribers) and confirms having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of
his knowledge, opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group
and the other Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no
other facts not contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement
contained in this Composite Document misleading.
The sole director of Next Gen, Mr. Huang Xin, accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) and confirms having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of his knowledge,
opinions expressed in this Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other
Subscribers) have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in this Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement contained in
this Composite Document misleading.
The members of the board of directors of Memestar, Mr. Herman Yu and Mr. Charles Chao,
jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other Subscribers) and confirm
having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this
Composite Document (other than those relating to the Group and the other Subscribers) have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not contained in this
Composite Document, the omission of which would make any statement contained in this Composite
Document misleading.
2.

CORPORATE INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability. Its registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong is at 23rd Floor, Sunshine Plaza, 353 Lockhart
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Etsuko Hoshiyama.
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SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

The authorised and issued share capitals of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date are as
follows:
Shares
Authorised:

Authorised share capital
50,000,000,000 Shares

Issued and fully paid:

of

HK$500,000,000

divided

into

Issued and paid up share capital of HK$100,382,576.12 divided into
10,038,257,612 Shares

A total of 7,731,143,209 Shares have been issued by the Company since 31 March 2011 (being the
date to which its latest published audited financial statements were prepared) and up to the Latest
Practicable Date. All of the Shares currently in issue rank pari passu in all respects with each other,
including, in particular, as to dividends, voting and return of paid-up share capital.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, other than the Share Options, the Company did not have any
outstanding warrants or options or other securities carrying rights of conversion into or exchange or
subscription for Shares.
4.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as it is known to any Director or
chief executive of the Company, no other person (not being a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of
any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member
of the Group:
Long positions in the Shares

Name of Shareholders

Capacity in which
the Shares and the
underlying Shares
are held

Mr. Lam Kin Ngok, Peter (Note 1) Interest of controlled
corporations
Lai Sun Garment (International)
Interest of controlled
Limited (Note 1)
corporations
Zimba International Limited
Interest of controlled
(Note 1)
corporations
Lai Sun Development Company
Interest of controlled
Limited (Note 1)
corporations
Transtrend Holdings Limited
Interest of controlled
(Note 1)
corporations
eSun Holdings Limited (Note 1)
Interest of a controlled
corporation

Number of the
Underlying
Number of
Shares
the Shares

Deemed
interest
pursuant to
Section 317 of
the SFO
(Note 7)

Total

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
Shares

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%
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Perfect Sky Holdings Limited
(Note 1)
Mr. Tse On Kin (Note 2)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Capacity in which
the Shares and the
underlying Shares
are held

Number of the
Number of
Underlying
the Shares
Shares

Deemed
interest
pursuant to
Section 317 of
the SFO
(Note 7)

Total

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
Shares

Beneficial owner

5,150,000,000

15,695,000,000

12,003,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

Interest of a controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

1,100,000,000

430,000,000

31,318,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

1,100,000,000

430,000,000

31,318,929,486

32,848,929,486

327.24%

Interest of a controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

576,098,633

6,486,699,793

25,786,131,060

32,848,929,486

327.24%

576,098,633

6,486,699,793

25,786,131,060

32,848,929,486

327.24%

Interest of a controlled
corporation
Memestar Limited (Note 4)
Beneficial owner
Mr. Choi Chiu Fai, Stanley
Interest of a controlled
(Note 5)
corporation
Ms. Cheung Fung Kuen, Maggie
Interest of a controlled
(Note 5)
corporation
Grace Promise Limited (Note 5)
Beneficial owner
Prowise Global Investment Limited Interest of a controlled
(Note 6)
corporation
Hawken Xiu Li (Note 6)
Interest of a controlled
corporation
Zhou Xin (Note 6)
Interest of a controlled
corporation
嚴紅春 (Note 6)
Interest of a controlled
corporation
On Chance Inc. (Note 6)
Beneficial owner
Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited
Beneficial owner
(Note 8)
Integrated Asset Management
Interest of a controlled
(Asia) Limited (Notes 8 and 9)
corporation
Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited
Interest of a controlled
(Notes 8 and 10)
corporation
Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (Note 9)
Interest of a controlled
corporation
Mr. Ting Pang Wan, Raymond
Interest of a controlled
(Note 10)
corporation
Golden Coach Limited (Note 11)
Beneficial owner
Mr. Chan Chun Kuen (Note 11)
Interest of a controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

92,244,576

1,164,487,920

31,592,196,990

32,848,929,486

327.24%

92,244,576
—

1,164,487,920
1,077,199,282

31,592,196,990
31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486
32,848,929,486

327.24%
327.24%

—

1,077,199,282

31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486

327.24%

—
—

1,077,199,282
1,077,199,282

31,771,730,204
31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486
32,848,929,486

327.24%
327.24%

—

1,077,199,282

31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486

327.24%

—

1,077,199,282

31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486

327.24%

—

1,077,199,282

31,771,730,204

32,848,929,486

327.24%

—
562,490,000

1,077,199,282
—

31,771,730,204
—

32,848,929,486
562,490,000

327.24%
5.60%

562,490,000

—

—

562,490,000

5.60%

562,490,000

—

—

562,490,000

5.60%

562,490,000

—

—

562,490,000

5.60%

562,490,000

—

—

562,490,000

5.60%

750,000,000
750,000,000

—
—

—
—

750,000,000
750,000,000

7.47%
7.47%

9,000,000

—

—

9,000,000

0.09%

Sun Great Investments Limited
(Note 2)
Yunfeng Fund, L.P. (Note 3)
Next Gen Entertainment Limited
(Note 3)
SINA Corporation (Note 4)

759,000,000
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Notes:
1.

Perfect Sky Holdings Limited (‘‘Perfect Sky’’) is wholly-owned by eSun Holdings Limited (‘‘eSun’’). eSun is owned
as to approximately 36.00% by Transtrend Holdings Limited (‘‘Transtrend’’). Transtrend is wholly-owned by Lai
Sun Development Company Limited (‘‘LSD’’). LSD is approximately 47.97% owned by Lai Sun Garment
(International) Limited (‘‘LSG’’) and two of LSG’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely Zimba International Limited
(‘‘Zimba’’) and Joy Mind Limited. LSG is approximately 8.07% owned by Mr. Lam Kin Ngok, Peter (‘‘Mr. Lam’’)
and is approximately 29.99% owned by Wisdoman Limited which is in turn 50% beneficially owned by Mr. Lam.
Thus, all the above companies are corporations controlled by Mr. Lam, and Mr. Lam, LSG, Zimba, LSD, Transtrend
and eSun were deemed to be interested in such Shares which Perfect Sky is deemed to be interested in pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO.

2.

Sun Great Investments Limited (‘‘Sun Great’’) is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse On Kin (‘‘Mr. Tse’’).
Mr. Tse was, therefore, deemed to be interested in such Shares which Sun Great is deemed to be interested in
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3.

Next Gen Entertainment Limited (‘‘Next Gen’’) is wholly and beneficially owned by Yunfeng Fund, L.P.
(‘‘Yunfeng’’). Yunfeng was, therefore, deemed to be interested in such Shares which Next Gen is deemed to be
interested in pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

4.

Memestar Limited (‘‘Memestar’’) is wholly owned by SINA Corporation (‘‘Sina’’). Sina was, therefore, deemed to
be interested in such Shares which Memestar is deemed to be interested in pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

5.

Grace Promise Limited (‘‘Grace Promise’’) is wholly and beneficially owned by Choi Chiu Fai, Stanley (‘‘Mr.
Choi’’) Mr. Choi and his spouse, Cheung Fung Kuen, Maggie were, therefore, deemed to be interested in such
Shares which Grace Promise is deemed to be interested in pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

6.

On Chance Inc. (‘‘On Chance’’) is owned as to 95% by Zhou Xin (‘‘Zhou’’) and as to 5% by Prowise Global
Investment Limited (‘‘Prowise’’) which is in turn 100% beneficially owned by Hawken Xiu Li (‘‘Hawken’’).
Hawken, Prowise, Zhou and Zhou’s spouse, 嚴紅春 were, therefore, deemed to be interested in such Shares which
On Chance is deemed to be interested in pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

7.

Pursuant to Section 317 of the SFO, each of the Subscribers was deemed to be interested in the Shares and the
underlying Shares held by the other Subscribers.

8.

Marvel Bonus Holdings Limited (‘‘Marvel Bonus’’) is owned as to 50% each by Integrated Asset Management
(Asia) Limited (‘‘Integrated Asset’’) and Shanghai Assets (BVI) Limited (‘‘Shanghai Assets’’). Integrated Asset and
Shanghai Assets were, therefore, deemed to be interested in 562,490,000 Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

9.

Integrated Asset is in turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Yam Tak Cheung (‘‘Mr. Yam’’). Mr. Yam was,
therefore, deemed to be interested in the 562,490,000 Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

10.

Shanghai Assets is in turn wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Ting Pang Wan, Raymond (‘‘Mr. Ting’’). Mr. Ting
was, therefore, deemed to be interested in the 562,490,000 Shares held by Marvel Bonus.

11.

Golden Coach Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Chun Kuen (‘‘Mr. Chan’’). Mr. Chan was,
therefore, deemed to be interested in Golden Coach Limited’s interest in 750,000,000 Shares. In addition, Mr. Chan
is personally interested in 9,000,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group, or any options in respect of
such capital, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(a)

Directors’ interests and short positions in the securities of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO)
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests or short positions of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:
Long positions in the Shares

No. of
Shares

Approximate
% of total
issued Shares

Name of Directors

Capacity in which the
Shares are held

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen

Beneficial owner

2,300,000

0.02%

Mr. Wong Kam Choi

Beneficial owner

2,300,000

0.02%

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter

Beneficial owner

2,300,000

0.02%

Name of Directors

Capacity in which
the underlying
Shares are held

Interests
in the
underlying
Shares
(Note)

Approximate
% of total
issued Shares

Mr. Chan Chi Ming, Alvin

Beneficial owner

23,000,000

0.23%

Mr. Luk Hong Man,
Hammond

Beneficial owner

23,000,000

0.23%

Ms. Etsuko Hoshiyama

Beneficial owner

5,800,000

0.06%

Long positions in the underlying Shares

Note:
The share options comprising the underlying Shares were granted to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme on
15 November 2010. The exercise period of the aforesaid share options is from 15 November 2010 to 14 November
2020 (both days inclusive). The initial exercise price is HK$0.198 per Share (subject to adjustments).
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Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing
Rules) had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
(b)

Service contracts
As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any existing or a proposed
service contract with any member of the Group which is not expiring or determinable by the
relevant Group member within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
As disclosed in the section headed ‘‘Appointment of new Directors to the Board’’ in the
Letter from HSBC, each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr. Chan will enter into a service
contract with the Company with no fixed tenure, which is determinable by the Company or
each of Mr. Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr. Chan by giving the other party not less than 3
months’ notice or payment in lieu thereof.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors and the new Directors, namely Mr.
Lam, Mr. Yu, Mr. Lui and Mr. Chan entered or is expected to enter into a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies which:
(i)

(including continuous and fixed term contracts) was entered into or amended within six
months before the date of the Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011 except for the
service contract with Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter, an independent non-executive
Director, which was renewed for one year commencing on 5 November 2010 and
expiring on 5 November 2011;

(ii)

is a continuous contract with a notice period of 12 months or more; or

(iii) is a fixed term contract with more than 12 months to run irrespective of the notice
period.
According to the terms of the aforesaid service contract, Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter is
entitled to a fixed remuneration of HK$10,000 per month as determined from time to time by
the Board or such higher amount as the Board may from time to time determine at its
absolute discretion. No variable remuneration is available.
Save for the expiry date of the contract, the terms of the earlier service contract of
Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter (which expired on 5 November 2010) are the same as those of
his current service contract.
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Other interests
(i)

Save as disclosed in the section headed ‘‘Disclosure of interests‘‘ in this appendix, none
of the Company, any member of the Group or any of the Directors held any interest in
the relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the
Offeror as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(ii)

No subsidiary or associate of the Company, or any pension fund of the Company or of
any member of the Group owned or controlled any securities, convertible securities,
warrants, options or derivatives of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(iii) None of the advisers named under the section headed ‘‘Qualifications and Consents’’ in
this Appendix or any adviser to the Company as specified in class (2) of the definition
of associate under the Takeovers Code owned or controlled any securities, convertible
securities, warrants, options or derivatives of the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date.
(iv) No shareholdings in the Company were managed on a discretionary basis by fund
managers connected with the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
(v)

No person who had any arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the
Takeovers Code with the Company or any person who is an associate of the Company
by virtue of classes (1), (2), (3) or (4) of the definition of associates under the
Takeovers Code had any interest in any securities, convertible securities, warrants,
options or derivatives of the Company and there was no such arrangement between any
parties listed above as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(vi) During the Relevant Period, save as disclosed in the section headed ‘‘Dealings in
Securities’’ in this Appendix, none of the Company, any member of the Group, any
Directors, the associate of the Company, a pension fund of any member of the Group,
an adviser named under the section headed ‘‘Qualifications and Consents’’ in this
Appendix, an adviser to the Company as specified in class (2) of the definition of
associate under the Takeovers Code, a person who has an arrangement of the kind
referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code with the Company or with any
person who is an associate of the Company by virtue of classes (1), (2), (3) and (4) of
the definition of associate, and fund managers who manages on a discretionary basis
and is connected with the Company or a person with whom the Offeror or any person
acting in concert with the Offer who has an arrangement of the kind referred to in
Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code, had dealt for value in the Shares or any
convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives of the Company.
(vii) Save as disclosed in the section headed ‘‘Shareholding Structure of the Company’’ in
the Letter from the Board and ‘‘Disclosure of Interests’’ in this Appendix, none of the
Directors had any shareholdings in the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
(viii) As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, Mr. Wong Kam Choi and Mr.
Yeung Wai Hung, Peter, all being independent non-executive Directors, intended to
reject the Share Offers in respect their own beneficial interests in the Shares; and Mr.
Chan Chi Ming, Alvin, Mr. Luk Hong Man, Hammond and Ms. Etsuko Hoshiyama, all
being executive Directors, intended to exercise the Share Options held by them but
reject the Share Offers in respect of their own beneficial interests in the Shares to be
issued to them upon exercise of their Share Options.
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(ix) Neither the Company nor any of the Directors had borrowed or lent any Shares or any
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.
(x)

There was no arrangement of the kind referred to in the third paragraph of Note 8 to
Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code between the Offeror, its respective associates or any
person acting in concert with it and any other person as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(xi) Other than the Offeror who was interested in the Subscription Shares and the
Convertible Notes and save as disclosed in the paragraph headed ‘‘Substantial
Shareholders’’ in this Appendix, save for the Subscription Shares and the Convertible
Notes, none of the parties acting in concert with the Offeror was interested in or owned
or controlled any Shares or other relevant securities (as defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of
the Takeovers Code) of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
(xii) Save as disclosed in paragraph (x) above, none of the directors of the Offeror was
interested in or own or control any Shares or other relevant securities (as defined in
Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date.
(xiii) None of the Offeror or the parties acting in concert with it had borrowed or lent (save
for any borrowed Shares which have been either on-lent or sold) any Shares or any
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.
6.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
(a)

Dealings in securities of the Company by the Offeror or the parties acting in concert
with it

During the Relevant Period, save for the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement as at the First Completion Date, neither the Offeror nor the parties acting in concert
with it had dealt in any securities, convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives of the
Company.
(b)

Dealings in securities of the Company by the directors of the Offeror

During the Relevant Period, save for the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement as at the First Completion Date, the directors of the Offeror had not dealt in any
securities, convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives of the Company.
(c)

Dealings in the securities of the Company by the Company and the Directors
Details of the dealings by the Directors are as follows:
(i)

Mr. Zhang Xi, an independent non-executive Director, acquired 2,300,000 Shares by
way of exercising the Share Options held by him on 16 May 2011 at the exercise price
of HK$0.198 per Share. He disposed all of his Shares on the same date at HK$0.27 per
Share;
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Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter, an independent non-executive Director, acquired
2,300,000 Shares by way of exercising the Share Options held by him on 16 May 2011
at the exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share;

(iii) Mr. Wong Kam Choi, an independent non-executive Director, acquired 2,300,000
Shares by way of exercising the Share Options held by him on 17 May 2011 at the
exercise price of HK$0.198 per Share; and
(iv) Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, an independent non-executive Director, acquired 2,300,000 Shares
by way of exercising the Share Options held by him on 1 June 2011 at the exercise
price of HK$0.198 per Share.
Save as disclosed above and the transactions contemplated under the Subscription Agreement
as at the First Completion Date, none of the Company and the Directors had dealt for value in any
securities, convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives of the Company or the Offeror
during the Relevant Period.
7.

MARKET PRICES
(a)

The highest and lowest closing prices of the Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange during the
Relevant Period were HK$0.395 per Share on 1 April 2011 and HK$0.150 per Share on 5
November and 8 November 2010 respectively.

(b)

The table below sets out the closing prices of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
(i) the last trading day of each of the calendar months during the Relevant Period; (ii) the
Last Trading Date; and (iii) the Latest Practicable Date:
Closing price
per Share
HK$

Date

30
29
30
31
31
28
22
31
29
31
13

September 2010
October 2010
November 2010
December 2010
January 2011
February 2011
March 2011 (being the Last Trading Date)
March 2011
April 2011
May 2011
June 2011 (being the Latest Practicable Date)

0.183
0.169
0.198
0.205
0.245
0.275
0.385
Not applicable*
0.285
0.295
0.260

* Trading in the Shares was suspended from 23 March 2011 to 31 March 2011 pending the release of the Joint
Announcement dated 31 March 2011.
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LITIGATION

No member of the Group was engaged in any litigation or arbitration or claims of material
importance, and no such litigation or arbitration or claim of material importance was known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened by or against any members of the Group, as at the Latest
Practicable Date.
9.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following material contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business) had been entered into by the Group within the two years immediately preceding the date of the
Joint Announcement dated 31 March 2011 and up to the Latest Practicable Date:

10.

(a)

the Subscription Agreement;

(b)

the Supplemental Agreement;

(c)

subscription agreement and supplemental agreement entered into between the Company and
Golden Coach Limited on 30 September 2010 and 4 March 2011 respectively relating to the
subscription and issue of the Fully Converted Convertible Bond in the principal amount of
HK$25,000,000 in the Company;

(d)

options subscription agreement and supplemental agreement entered into between the
Company and Golden Coach Limited on 30 September 2010 and 4 March 2011 respectively
relating to the subscription for 250,000,000 new Shares in the capital of the Company; and

(e)

placing agreement entered into between the Company and Kingston Securities Limited on 5
October 2009 relating to the placing of 380,000,000 new Shares at the price of HK$0.10 each
in the Company under a general mandate granted to the Directors by the Shareholders at the
2009 annual general meeting of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional Shares.

QUALIFICATIONS AND CONSENTS

The following are the names and the qualifications of the experts who have given opinions or
advice which are contained or referred to in this Composite Document:
Name

Qualification

HSBC

a registered institution under the SFO registered to conduct Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4
(advising on securities), Type 5 (advising on futures contracts) and Type
6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities as defined under the
SFO, and a licensed bank under the Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), and the financial adviser to the Offeror
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Hercules Capital

a licensed corporation under the SFO to conduct Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO and the independent
financial adviser to the Independent Board Committee in respect of the
Offers

Optima

a licensed corporation under the SFO permitted to engage in Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activities, and the financial
adviser to the Company

Each of HSBC, Hercules Capital and Optima has given and has not withdrawn its written consent
to the issue of this Composite Document with the inclusion herein of its letter, report and/or references
to its name, in the form and context in which it appears.
11.

GENERAL
(a)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no benefit (other than statutory compensation) would be
given to any Director as compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection with the
Offers.

(b)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as the Subscription Agreement and the Supplemental
Agreement, there was no agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any
compensation arrangement) between the Offeror or any person acting in concert with it and
any Directors, recent Directors, Shareholders or recent Shareholders having any connection
with or was dependent upon the Offers.

(c)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no agreement or arrangement to which the
Offeror is a party which relates to the circumstance in which it may or may not invoke or
seek to invoke a condition to the Offers.

(d)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no arrangement, agreement or undertaking has been entered
into by the Offeror, the directors of the Offeror or any person acting in concert with the
Offeror for the transfer, charge or pledge by any of them to any other person of any Shares
acquired pursuant to the Offers.

(e)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there was no agreement or arrangement between any of the
Directors and any other person which is conditional on or dependent upon the outcome of the
Offers or otherwise connected with the Offers.

(f)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no person who owned or controlled Shares had irrevocably
committed to accepting or rejecting the Offers.

(g)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as the Subscription Agreement and the Supplemental
Agreement, there was no material contract to which any of the Offeror is a party or in which
any Directors has a material personal interest.
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(h)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Subscription Shares and the First Completion
Convertible Notes owned by the Subscribers (as the case may be) no persons who had any
arrangements of the kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code with the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it owned or controlled any Shares or any
convertible securities, warrants, options or derivatives in respect of any Share.

(i)

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the undertaking given by the Subscribers under the
Subscription Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement, no arrangement of the kind
referred to in the third paragraph of Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code existed
between the Offeror, or any person acting in concert with the Offeror or its associates, and
any other person.

(j)

The registered office of the Company is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and the Hong Kong head office and principal place of business of the
Company is at 23rd Floor, Sunshine Plaza, 353 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(k)

The registered office of the Offeror is situated at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations
Centre, Road Town, Tortola, BVI. Its correspondence address is at 11th Floor, Lai Sun
Commercial Centre, 680 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

(l)

The principal parties acting in concert with the Offeror are Sun Great, Next Gen, Memestar,
On Chance and Grace Promise.

(m) The registered office of Sun Great is at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVI. Its correspondence address is at 8/F., Fortune House, 61 Connaught
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.
(n)

The registered office of Next Gen is at Walkers Corporate Services (BVI) Limited, Walkers
Chambers, 171 Main Street, Road Town, Tortola VG1110, BVI. Its correspondence address
is at Unit 3501, K. Wah Centre, 1010 Huaihaizhong Road, Shanghai, 200031, PRC.

(o)

The registered office of Memestar is at P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVI. Its correspondence address is at 20/F, Ideal International Plaza, No. 58,
Northwest 4th Ring Road, Haidian District, Beijing, 1080000, PRC.

(p)

The registered office of On Chance is at Sea Meadow House, Blackburne Highway, P.O. Box
116, Road Town, Tortola, BVI. Its correspondence address is at Room 2101, 21/F, WorldWide House, 19 Des Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

(q)

The registered office of Grace Promise is at Palm Grove House, P.O. Box 438, Road Town,
Tortola, BVI. Its correspondence address is at Room 403, 4/F, Wing On House, 71 Des
Voeux Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

(r)

The registered office of HSBC, the financial adviser to the Offeror, is at 1 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.
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(s)

The registered office of Hercules Capital, the independent financial adviser to the
Independent Board Committee in respect of the Offers, is at 1503 Ruttonjee House, 11
Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

(t)

The English text of this Composite Document and the Forms of Acceptance shall prevail over
the Chinese text in the case of inconsistency.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal business hours (i.e.
from 9:30 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. and from 2:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m.) on Monday to Friday unless (i) a tropical
cyclone warning signal number 8 or above is hoisted; or (ii) a black rainstorm warning signal is issued,
except for public holidays, at (i) the principal place of business of the Company at 23rd Floor, Sunshine
Plaza, 353 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong; and (ii) on the website of the SFC at www.sfc.hk and
the website of the Company at www.rojam.com for so long as the Offers remain open for acceptance
during the period from the date of this Composite Document up to and including the Closing Date:
(a)

the Bye-laws of the Company;

(b)

the memorandum and articles of association of the Offeror;

(c)

the annual reports of the Company for the two years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March
2011, respectively;

(d)

the letter from HSBC as set out on pages 11 to 21 of this Composite Document;

(e)

the letter from the Board as set out on pages 22 to 33 of this Composite Document;

(f)

the letter from the Independent Board Committee as set out on page 34 of this Composite
Document;

(g)

the letter from Hercules Capital as set out on pages 35 to 50 of this Composite Document;

(h)

the undertakings from each of the Subscribers (other than the Offeror) not to accept the Share
Offer and not to dispose of any of its Subscription Shares and any Shares issuable upon
conversion of the First Completion Convertible Notes (as the case may be) during the Offer
Period as set out in clause 6.5(c) of the Subscription Agreement;

(i)

the service contracts with Mr. Yeung Wai Hung, Peter, an independent non-executive
Director, referred to in the paragraph headed ‘‘Service Contracts’’ in this Appendix;

(j)

the written consents from the experts referred to in the paragraph headed ‘‘Qualifications and
Consents’’ in this Appendix; and

(k)

the material contracts referred to in the paragraph headed ‘‘Material Contracts’’ in this
Appendix.
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